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About Mizuho Bank Europe
1.1 Who We Are
Established in 1974, Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. (MBE) is a fully licensed bank incorporated in the Netherlands
and supervised by De Nederlandsche Bank (DNB) and the Autoriteit Financiële Markten (AFM). With 45 years
of experience in providing financial services to Japanese and non-Japanese customers in the region, we have
developed a solid customer base and expertise throughout the European Single Market – with a focus on the
markets in Benelux, Iberia, and Central & Eastern Europe – using our EU Banking Passport.
MBE is a 100% subsidiary of Mizuho Bank Ltd. (MHBK), which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Mizuho Financial Group (MHFG or Mizuho Group). With branches in Brussels (Belgium), Vienna (Austria) and
Madrid (Spain), MBE employs 90 full time equivalents (FTE) as of 31 December 2019.
Mizuho Group is a global financial services leader with offices in nearly 40 countries, approximately 60,000
employees, and assets of more than USD 1.8 trillion. Mizuho Group provides expertise in retail banking,
corporate finance, investment banking, asset management, capital markets, and sales and trading, to help
businesses develop and find new opportunities.
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1.2 Our Vision and Strategy
Mizuho Group believes in delivering client-focused financial solutions for local and international businesses.
Using financial solutions that evolve to meet changing needs, and forward-looking market intelligence, we
create long-term opportunities so that customers, employees, and other stakeholders thrive and grow. As a
financial institution with a global presence, we value the long-lasting relationships we have developed with
our customers in Europe and around the world. We partner with our customers in order to understand their
needs and provide them with financial services that help them further their business and achieve sustainable
growth and, more broadly, to benefit the societies in which we operate.

To be our customers'

To continuously provide

To maximize our

most trusted partner
with innovative thinking

the best leading-edge
financial services to

extensive expertise and
collective capabilities

and the extensive

each of our customers,

as experienced financial

financial experience and
expertise accumulated

the related economies
and societies we serve,

services professionals in
order to meet the

from relationships with

by anticipating changes

diversified and changing

wide-ranging customers

on both the global and
local stages

needs of our customers,
economies and societies

The most
trusted
financial
services group

The best
financial
services
provider

The most
cohesive
financial
services group

These fundamental commitments support our primary role in bringing value to each customer and the economies
and societies in which we operate. MBE’s vision within the context of the wider Mizuho Group is “to drive the
success of our clients and advance the prosperity of the economies and societies of EMEA and beyond.” We
work towards our vision by leveraging our unique position to provide the best financial solutions for our clients,
committing to superior service at every step to help them achieve success.

9

Annual Report 2019

1.3 Five Years at a Glance

1.4	Organization

All figures are before appropriation of profit, whereby the balance represents the figures per 31 December
and the profit and loss account represents the figures for the financial year.

As of 31 December 2019

(in €’000)

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

500,391

476,698

623,057

332,874

323,372

2,371,895

2,309,925

2,074,411

2,299,134

1,926,529

962,569

1,444,270

1,006,980

1,402,875

845,846

3,834,855

4,230,893

3,704,448

4,034,883

3,095,747

Assets
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to cus-tomers
Others
Balance sheet total

Supervisory Board
H. Nagamine		
P.A. de Ruijter		
K. O’Rourke		
G. Kindert

Advisor to the Supervisory Board

Liabilities
Amounts owed to banks

1,121,560

1,314,500

1,036,207

1,129,932

800,840

Amounts owed to customers

2,050,051

2,346,319

2,063,635

2,292,481

1,792,118

167,545

98,390

154,302

228,832

142,806

3,339,156

3,759,209

3,254,144

3,651,245

2,735,764

495,699

471,684

450,304

383,638

359,983

3,834,855

4,230,893

3,704,448

4,034,883

3,095,747

Total operating income

69,481

53,838

46,927

53,704

57,568

Total operating expenses

(37,122)

(24,791)

(24,636)

(22,618)

(17,308)

Operating result before taxa-tion

32,359

29,047

22,291

31,086

40,260

Others

Shareholder’s equity
Balance sheet total
Profit and loss account

Taxation on operating result

(8,344)

Result after tax

24,015

21,380

16,666

23,655

29,990

17.29%

17.10%

17.67%

15.34%

14.61%

NSFR

110%

138%

122%

106%

LCR

134%

201%

210%

204%

4.84%

4.53%

3.70%

6.17%

Capital ratio

Return on Equity

(7,667)

(5,625)

(7,431)

(10,270)

8.33%

E. van de Merwe
Management Board
K. Saito			
E. Katayama		
J. A. Pöhland		

Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.

Chief Executive Officer
Chief Business Officer
Chief Risk & Financial Officer

Department Managers
J.M.A. van Leeuwen
Managing Director
Corporate Finance I
S. Nakamura		
Executive Director
Corporate Finance II
S. Chitose		
Executive Director
Treasury
G.W. Schuurman		
Executive Director
Credit Assessment
D. Morival		
Executive Director
Planning and Risk Management/IT & Data Management
C. Uchida		
Director			
Credit and Customer Support
V.M. Damen		
Director			
Human Resources & Facility Management
F. Pieters		
Director			
Finance and Control
A. Lambert		Director			Internal Audit
B. Roeling		
Director			
Legal, Compliance and InfoSec, Company Secretary
A. van Veen		
Director			
Middle Office and Business Support
Branch Managers
M. Tsuzuki		
M. Matsumoto		
A. Cervera Rodilla
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Chairman of the Supervisory Board and Chairman of the Personnel Committee
Chairman of the Audit & Compliance Committee
Chairman of the Risk Committee
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Branch Manager		
Branch Manager		
Branch Manager		
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Brussels Branch
Vienna Branch
Madrid Branch

Report of the
Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board supervises the Management
Board, the policies pursued by it, and the general
course of affairs of MBE. In addition, the Supervisory
Board actively advises the Management Board on
various matters related to strategy and corporate
governance. The Supervisory Board takes into
account the interest of all relevant stakeholders in the
performance of its duties and responsibilities including,
without limitation, that of MBE, its employees,
customers, society, and the environment in which
it operates.
Throughout this year, we supervised the work of
the Management Board and offered solicited and
unsolicited advice. We provided guidance on overall
company strategy, risk management, executive
decisions, and other matters of actual or potential
concern. The Management Board involved us in all of
the company’s fundamental decisions in a timely and
comprehensive manner, which enabled us to perform
all the tasks entrusted to us by law, and external and
internal regulations.
Additionally, the Chairman of the Audit and Compliance
Committee was informed directly by the CRFO,
Head of Internal Audit, and the Head of Legal and
Compliance through monthly video calls, ad-hoc calls,
and email notifications. Similarly there was direct
communication and reporting between the Chairman
of the Risk Committee, CRFO, and Head of Planning
& Risk Management. We also met one-on-one with
other managers of the Bank, just below board level, to
get a complete picture of the organization. As a result,
we consider ourselves well informed of (intended)
business plans, corporate strategy, risk management,
compliance, audit and the overall performance of MBE
and its affiliates, as well as its corporate culture.
We are carefully monitoring the on-going
developments related to the Coronavirus (COVID-19)
outbreak, and are implementing enhanced
communication between the Supervisory Board
and Management Board. As referred to in section
3.5.4.4, the Management Board together with the
MBE contingency team have performed an impact
assessment and have taken appropriate measures to
minimize negative impact to the extent possible. We
will remain in close contact with the Management
Board and will provide frequent updates with regards to
employee safety and business continuity of the Bank.

2.1 Composition of the Board(s)

2.2 Professional Excellence

2.3 Vision and Strategy

By ensuring the right tone from the top, the
Supervisory Board is a core part of MBE’s
governance structure and we believe it is in
good shape. The Supervisory Board consists of
four members, each with its areas of expertise
and diverse nationalities: Japanese, Dutch, Irish
and Hungarian. MBE embraces the principal of
having a diverse and balanced composition of its
Management and Supervisory Boards. With women
currently making up 25% of the Supervisory Board,
MBE is well on its way to meet the gender target
of 30%. When vacancies arise, MBE will give due
consideration to gender and diversity requirements
when selecting new candidates.

The Supervisory Board attended multiple educational
sessions as a part of MBE’s Lifelong Education
Program.

One of the responsibilities of the Supervisory Board
is providing advice to the Management Board with
regard to MBE’s mission, strategy, and objectives.
In 2019 Mizuho Financial Group, Inc. (“MHFG”)
launched its 5-year Midterm Business Plan titled
“Transitioning to the Next Generation of Financial
Services” (the “Business Plan”). In the Business
Plan, MHFG outlines, over a span of 5 years, how it
intends to address structural changes in the industry
and environment, such as digitalization, an aging
society with a low birthrate, and globalization. The
key strategy formulated in the Business Plan is to
go beyond the conventional boundaries of finance
and to create new value incorporating both financial
and non-financial products and services in order to
forge new forms of partnerships with its customers.
MHFG intends to realize this strategy by i) drawing
on the strengths the MHFG has cultivated thus
far and ii) to accelerate digitalization initiatives and
proactive collaboration with external partners.

In 2019 the educational sessions with external
keynote speakers covered the following topics:
•

•
As per the criteria laid down in the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code and applied by DNB, two
members of the Supervisory Board are independent
‘in state and appearance’. All members have
demonstrated a critical, independent view in
performing our supervisory and advisory tasks.
With the re-appointment of Mrs. Kindert in March
2019, the composition of the Supervisory Board
has been stable since 2016. The continuity of
the Supervisory Board provides that all members
have good understanding of their roles and have
comprehensive knowledge of the business of MBE.
As Supervisory Board we are supported by our
long-standing advisor Mr. Van de Merwe. Mr. Van
de Merwe advised on various issues on both a local
and an EU level, with a primary focus on governance,
risk management, compliance, and audit matters. He
was also consulted on the content for the Lifelong
Learning Program. In light of his history with the
bank, an external consultancy firm investigated
the independence of his advice and, as expected,
the report demonstrated that Mr. Van de Merwe’s
long-standing relationship does not affect his
independence nor the advice given in any negative
way. Since Mr. Van de Merwe’s expertise is highly
valued, we are pleased that he will continue his
advisory role in the year to come.
With respect to the composition of the Management
Board there were no changes compared to 2018. The
Supervisory Board feels that MBE has a qualified and
effective Management Board in place, capable of
driving MBE forward in the right direction.

“Incident Response”: Training on breaches,
incidents, and reputational issues relating to the
banking sector, and how to act and not to act
in order to minimize impact and (reputational)
damage. Key note speaker was Mr. Karl Hanuska
from Hill + Knowlton Strategies.
“LIBOR”: Training on the discontinuation
of IBORs, alternative rates, and transition
challenges. Key-note speakers were Mr. Floris
van de Loo and Mr. Rens Borsje from EY.

The Supervisory Board evaluated its functioning
through the annual self-assessment. In line with
the Dutch Banking Code, this self-assessment is
carried out every three years under independent
supervision, which was done in 2019 by an external
specialized consultancy firm. During the independent
assessment, the Board reviewed the functioning and
governance of the Supervisory Board and its longtime advisor while taking into account the applicable
regulatory requirements and expectations of De
Nederlandsche Bank and the European Central Bank.
As part of the independent assessment, the external
consultants reviewed all relevant constitutional
documents and policies of MBE, analyzed the selfassessment questionnaires, attended Supervisory
Board meetings as observers, held individual
qualitative interviews with all the members of the
Supervisory Board, Management Board, and the
advisor to the Supervisory Board and provided their
advice and conclusions in a draft report. The main
take away from the draft report is that:
“All members of the Supervisory Board and the
Management Board are fully aware of the advising
and supervising role of the Supervisory Board and the
interaction between the two corporate bodies.
Supervisory Board Members have a clear, common
understanding of their roles and responsibilities.
Roles are fulfilled effectively by the members of the
Supervisory Board and seem to match the experience
and skills of the individual members.”1

The Management Board and Supervisory Board
have carefully studied the Business Plan and have
taken steps to align MBE’s strategy and vision with
that of MHFG. As a first step, MBE organized a
Management Board and Manager’s offsite meeting
in September 2019. During that meeting, the
stakeholders analyzed and discussed the Business
Plan and were able to produce road pillars for MBE’s
own local midterm plan. As a second step, an
offsite Supervisory Board meeting was organized
in November 2019 during which the Business
Plan, the outcome of the September meeting and
the longer-term strategic objectives of MBE were
extensively discussed and analyzed. The focus was
on deepening both Boards’ understanding of the
Business Plan. The Supervisory Board was able
to provide useful input and guidance with regard
to the strategic framework of MBE to set the right
strategic priorities and ensure that we continue to
provide the best financial solutions for our clients,
committing to superior service at every step. In the
year to come, it is intended to further discuss and
work out MBE’s local business plan in more detail. A
follow-up offsite meeting is scheduled for the second
quarter of 2020. The Supervisory Board believes that
the local business plan will play an important role in
expanding the business opportunities for MBE and
make MBE resilient for the challenges it will face in
the near future. We highly appreciate the efforts of
the Management Board to pro-actively inform and
engage us in such strategy discussions, and count on
a continuation of the same in 2020.

1 PwC Draft Report December 2019, p. 43
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Integrity and ethics are of great importance for the
banking industry, which is why the bank’s corporate
culture has our full attention. We encourage
MBE’s voluntary adherence to the (best practices
of the) Dutch Corporate Governance Code and
we monitored the measures that were taken to
comply with its provisions. These topics were
therefore extensively discussed during the offsite
in November. We are pleased that the Vision and
Strategy Committee, which was set up in 2016
to further enhance employee engagement and
contribute to MBE’s vision and strategy pillars, has
the Management Board’s continued support.

2.4 Regulatory Oversight
We strive to have a sound understanding of –
and maintain compliance with – the regulatory
environment because it pertains to the bank’s
organizational structure as well as its risk appetite
framework. As with previous years, in 2019 the bank
faced an increasingly demanding regulatory landscape.
During 2019, the Supervisory Board gave special
attention to the implementation of the Payment
Services Directive II, LIBOR discontinuation, IFRS9,
the new risk appetite statement, the business
contingency plan, and the IRRBB framework. External
threats and events such as the increase in cybercrime
forced an even stronger focus on data protection and
cybersecurity. As these are considered important
topics, the Supervisory Board will continue to closely
monitor and provide guidance and assistance in these
areas, when and where required.
Communication with MBE’s home state regulators,
DNB and AFM, has been open and constructive.
As Supervisory Board members, we anticipated
and carefully monitored requests made by DNB and
kept a firm eye on the financial reporting processes
and internal control systems. As part of the ongoing
dialogue with DNB, they acknowledged our efforts
to maintain the highest level of compliance with
applicable legislation, and the adequate functioning
of the bank’s overall control mechanisms.
In 2019, MBE had three on-site visits from DNB.
During the first visit MBE reviewed MBE’s Business
Model Risk. The second on-site visit was a follow up
to the 2018 inspection performed in relation to Credit
Risk Management. The last visit was in relation to the
framework of the Interest Risk Rate in the Banking
Book. The Management Board has continuously kept
the Supervisory Board informed of the progress and
where appropriate the Supervisory Board has been in
direct contact with DNB with regard to the on-site visits.

2.5 Meetings of the Supervisory Board
All members of the Supervisory Board are firmly committed and believed to have demonstrated this
commitment throughout 2019. There were four formal Supervisory Board meetings held last year. The
attendance rate for all Supervisory Board members was 100 percent. One Personnel Committee meeting and
a Remuneration Committee meeting were held. Furthermore, the Audit and Compliance Committee and the
Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board both held two meetings. In all of these meetings the Management
Board, senior representatives of Internal Audit, Planning and Risk Management, Legal and Compliance, and
External Audit participated where appropriate. Their main considerations and conclusions were shared with
the Supervisory Board, where formal decision-making takes place.
To ensure all key issues are addressed in the meetings of the Supervisory Board and its sub-committees,
MBE uses a multiple year meeting planner. We approved the preliminary agenda and Permanent Education
program for 2019 - 2020, as pre-discussed by all stakeholders. As with previous years, recurring topics such
as governance, risk management, financials, resources, regulatory matters, (new) business initiatives, IT
infrastructure, privacy, data protection and cybercrime, audit reports, and legal and compliance matters will
continue to have our full attention.

2.6 Financial Statements
In compliance with local law and article 16 of MBE’s articles of association, the Management Board
presented to the General Meeting of Shareholders the financial statements of the year 2019, together with
the explanatory notes. The Supervisory Board carefully reviewed the financial statements and submitted its
advice, to approve the financial statements, at the Company’s offices for inspection by the shareholders.

2.7 Closing Remarks
2019 has been an interesting year in which MBE has withstood many challenges thanks to the diligence and
hard work of MBE’s employees and the Management Board. We would like to recognize these efforts and
thank them for all their efforts. The Supervisory Board looks forward to continuing the fruitful cooperation
in 2020.
Amsterdam, 17 March 2020
Hiroshi Nagamine (Chairman)
Peter de Ruijter
Kevin O’Rourke
Gabriella Kindert

16

Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.

Report of the
Board of Managing
Directors
We are pleased to present the financial statements of
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. for the financial year 2019.

3.1 Mizuho Bank Europe
Mizuho Group announced its new 5 year business
plan & strategy in 2019. The Bank carefully reviewed
its own strategy to ensure alignment and that the
local strategy supports the new Mizuho Group plan
& strategy. The Management Board, in extensive
discussions with the managers and separately
with the Supervisory Board, has come up with a
sustainable and viable strategy that supports the
business and recognizes the fast-moving external
environment. To ensure the whole organization fully
embraces Mizuho Group’s new Mid-Term Plan and to
align our strategy to the Group and regional strategy,
we will continue to spend time internally and work
with all management layers and staff to further shape
and embed our strategy and corporate culture.
During this transition between our old and new
mid-term plan and strategy, we have been
keeping a close eye on serving and supporting our
customers to the highest standard. We have been
able to provide even more value to our customers
and support them in their medium-and long-term
strategies. Keeping in mind that 2019 remained
a challenging year – due to more complex and
demanding regulatory requirements combined with
an extremely tight labor market – we are very proud
to have been able to close another successful year in
terms of both business promotion and profitability.
MBE and the Management Board remain committed
to supporting Mizuho Group and will continue
supporting its customers in the whole region. With
Brexit now a reality and as part of Mizuho Group’s
overall strategic realignment, MBE’s importance
in the region continues to grow and solidify.
Preparations are currently being implemented to
ensure the Mizuho Group can continue supporting
customers without disruption.
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3.2	Market Developments
and Outlook
3.2.1 International Order and International Strategy
The year 2019 was rocked by trade negotiations
and the exchange of punitive tariffs between the
US and China. We hope the year 2020 will bring
about the rise of a “deal” (agreement) oriented
mindset. US President Donald Trump is on the
ballot for the presidential election in November
and Chinese President Xi Jinping faces a slowing
economy, meaning that both leaders are incentivized
to stabilize their economies and markets. However,
a US-China détente (easing of tensions) may turn
out to be short-lived and superficial. The entry of
the world’s first and second largest economies into
a New Cold War holds grave consequences. The
US defines China as a clear threat to its security.
Trade tensions between the US and China is not
just a matter of trade imbalance, but also an issue
of competitive superiority in high-tech and military
technology, and in turn, of global hegemony. There
are concerns that the US and China will follow a
path toward decoupling (division) while maintaining
a certain degree of interdependence. Decoupling
risks associated with the so-called New Cold War
between the US and China will continue to depress
capital investment of global corporations, and in turn
serve as downward pressure on the global economy.
Under these circumstances, it will be necessary
to diversify risks and build resilience in global
businesses and supply chains, while assessing the
consequences of US-China relations.

3.2.2 Monetary and Fiscal Policy Under Low growth,
Low Inflation and Low Interest Rates
In addition to the economic slowdown, demographic
changes, the expansion of online shopping, and
changes in the socio-economic structure, such as the
expansion of the sharing economy, are contributing
to the establishment of a worldwide disinflationary
trend. Deflationary pressures are also building on
producer prices along with the slump in the global
manufacturing sector.
Amid lingering downside risks to the global economy,
the scope for monetary policy is narrowing. Japan and
the Eurozone, which are adopting negative interest
rates, are aware of the negative effects of such
policies, leading to questions regarding the conduct of
monetary policy. Given the narrow leeway for further
interest rate cuts, fiscal policy will become more
important than ever. In Japan, a large-scale economic
stimulus package was announced at the end of
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2019. Despite doubts about the effectiveness of the
package, the flexible stance toward fiscal spending
is worthy of commendation. Attention should be paid
upon policy responses by the Eurozone, which is
faced with an ongoing economic slump and the US in
the run-up to the presidential election.
Meanwhile, it is also necessary to keep a close eye
upon the side effects of a prolonged, excessively
accommodative monetary environment. In the
US and Europe, there is a trend where companies
that are relatively inferior in creditworthiness have
been increasing their debt in the form of high-yield
corporate bonds and leveraged loans. If credit
discipline among companies and investors is turning
lax due to a global capital glut, this is a trend which
cannot be overlooked. In terms of corporate debt,
close attention should be paid to China's excessive
debt problem – in other words, the potential nonperforming loan problem of banks. It is likely that the
sustainability of corporate debt overseas will be an
important theme for the global economy in 2020.
Although the main scenario outlook is the
persistence of a low-inflation environment, it is
necessary to pay a certain amount of attention
to the rise of inflation as a tail risk. The labor
markets of developed market countries is near full
employment. Globalization is retreating with the
rise of US protectionism and the New Cold War
between the US and China. Furthermore, there are
also discussions on the regulation of tech giants and
expansion of fiscal spending. Keeping in mind that all
these issues are, in theory, factors pushing up prices,
we shall examine their impacts.

3.2.3 Outlook on the Global Economy in 2020: The Economy is Forecast to Bottom Out in the First Half and Pick
Up in the Second Half of the Year
In 2020, the global economy should be able to avert
further deterioration, underpinned by a policy mix of
accommodative monetary policy and expansionary
fiscal policy among the major countries of the world,
in addition to the expected recovery of the IT cycle.
The global economy is expected to gradually bottom
out in the first half of the year, leading to a moderate
recovery in the second half. However, given the
weak momentum of the recovery, and prospects that
the annual growth rates of many of the countries
such as the US and China will fall on a year-on-year
basis, economic growth of the overall forecast area
should remain weak, at around the level in 2019.
As for Eurozone economy, it is expected to grow by
1.1% in 2020, which is slightly lower than the 1.2%
in 2019.

Among the risk factors are the re-escalation of trade tensions between the US and China, political problems in
Europe, and the deterioration of geopolitical risks such as the situation in the Middle East and demonstrations
in Hong Kong. In particular, as the US-China trade tensions stem from conflicts over technology and security,
uncertainties persist, given high hurdles toward a comprehensive agreement. Depending on developments in
future negotiations, the possibility of a re-escalation of tensions may not be ruled out entirely.
Outlook on the Global Economy

(YoY % change)
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Note: The shaded areas indicate forecasts. The total of the forecast area is calculated upon the GDP share (PPP) by the International
Monetary Fund (IMF). Sources: Made by MHRI based upon IMF and statistics of relevant countries and regions

3.2.4 Outlook on the Financial Markets in 2020: A Low Interest Rate Environment Will Continue Worldwide
A low interest rate environment is expected to continue worldwide. Even though the global economy should
gradually bottom out in the first half of 2020, the strength of recovery is expected to be weak. Amid the
persistence of a low interest rate environment, it is expected that Japan, the US, and Europe will retain
their current monetary policy stance. Market concerns will tend to rise given the high hurdles toward a full
agreement in US-China trade negotiations.
Japanese and US stock markets: Despite a temporary market fall, given the fading optimism on US-China
trade negotiations, a mild upturn is expected from the turn of the year along with the improvement of
corporate earnings. Even so, the stock markets may turn volatile, swayed by the course of the US presidential
election and US-China trade negotiations.
Government bonds: The yield on 10-yr US treasury bonds should follow a gradual uptrend, reaching nearly
2%. Given lingering speculation on a Fed rate cut, the breadth of the rise should be limited. The rise of the
yields on 10-yr JGBs and 10-yr German government bonds will be muted as the ECB and BOJ adhere to a
strong monetary easing stance.
Foreign exchange rate: A mild appreciation of the yen is expected, as the dollar will tend to come under dollarweakening/yen-strengthening pressures in the run-up to the US presidential election. With respect to EUR/USD
exchange rates, the euro should remain weak against the backdrop of weak Eurozone economic fundamentals.
At the time the annual report is being finalized, the outbreak of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic is unfolding
and it is becoming clear that the situation will worsen before seeing a structural relief or being neutralized.
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Executive Board of the Japanese Chamber of Commerce and Industry in the Netherlands (JCC), and together
with Mr. Pöhland they are appointed assemblers of the Executive Board of the Foreign Bankers’ Association
based in Amsterdam.

According to the International Monetary Fund, the fast-spreading coronavirus will have an impact on global
economic growth and is likely to downgrade its growth forecast as a result. This negative outlook has also
resulted in severe volatility in various equity and commodity markets around the world and we are currently
assessing the impact it has on various models and overall business impact.
Outlook on the financial markets
2018

2019

2020

2019

FY

FY

FY

Oct-Dec

2020
Jan-Mar Apr-Jun

2021

Jul-Sep

Oct-Dec

Jan-Mar

Japan
Interest rate on Policy-Rate Balances

(%)

-0.10

-0.10

-0.10

-0.10

-0.10

-0.10

-0.10

-0.10

-0.10

(3-mo, %)

0.06

0.05

0.05

0.01

0.05

0.05

0.06

0.06

0.06

Interest rate swaps

(5-yr, %)

0.08

-0.05

0.05

-0.08

0.00

0.00

0.05

0.10

0.10

Newly-issued JGBs

(10-yr, %)

0.05

-0.10

-0.05

-0.12

-0.05

-0.05

-0.05

0.00

0.00

(JPY)

21,973

22,000

23,300

23,000

22,500

23,000

23,000

23,500

23,500

2.25~2.50 1.50~1.75 1.50~1.75

1.50~1.75

1.50~1.75 1.50~1.75 1.50~1.75 1.50~1.75

1.50~1.75

Euroyen TIBOR

Nikkei average

US
Federal Funds Rate
Newly-issued US treasury bond
Dow Jones average

(End of period, %)
(10-yr, %)

2.87

1.95

1.95

1.80

1.80

1.90

1.90

2.00

2.00

(USD)

25,056

26,800

27,800

27,500

27,000

27,500

27,500

28,000

28,000

(End of period, %)

-0.40

-0.50

-0.50

-0.50

-0.50

-0.50

-0.50

-0.50

-0.50

(10-yr, %)

0.35

-0.35

-0.25

-0.40

-0.40

-0.30

-0.30

-0.20

-0.20

EuroZone
ECB deposit facility rate
German government bonds

Foreign Exchange Rate
USD/JPY

(USD/JPY)

111

108

107

109

108

108

106

106

106

EUR/USD

(EUR/USD)

1.16

1.11

1.10

1.10

1.10

1.10

1.10

1.10

1.10

Crude oil price (WTI nearest term contract) (USD/bbl)

63

57

59

57

56

58

59

60

60

Note: The shaded areas indicate forecasts. The forecasts are the averages of the relevant periods. However, the interest
rate on Policy-Rate Balances, the federal funds (FF) rate and the ECB deposit facility rates are end-of-period rates.
Source: Made by MHRI based on Bloomberg

3.3 Management Board
Recognizing the changing environment -- in terms of new customer demands and how they expect to be
serviced in a rapidly changing digital environment, and in terms of how banks are being supervised amidst
new regulatory requirements – the Management Board has taken various steps in 2019 to further enhance our
capabilities and processes. Most noteworthy is our decision to bring back our data management capabilities to
Amsterdam, and to set up our own Amsterdam Data Warehouse. We also hired new staff to support our data
management and business analysis/support capabilities. Similarly, we have been strengthening our Know York
Customer and AML capabilities, something we will continue to improve in the coming year. The Management
Board continues to promote good corporate governance and cultural awareness, which ultimately stimulates a
harmonious way of decision-making and a good functioning organization.

The Management Board has been working closely with the Supervisory Board, proactively communicating
and seeking advice on various strategic matters. Our Supervisory Board continuously and proactively
evaluated whether the Management Board has the expertise required by DNB. To that end, in 2019, the
Management Board members attended several in-house and external courses, including seminars and
relevant/industry events. Additionally, as a Board and on an individual basis, we are committed to pursuing a
program of lifelong learning and we attended the Lifelong Education Program of the Supervisory Board.
When making decisions, as a Management Board we strive to put our customers’ interests first. Our
mission statement, “Customers first” is the guiding principle for the Mizuho Code of Conduct. To ensure
that the mission statement and the company’s values are truly embedded and understood by all employees,
significant effort was made to enhance the onboarding program of new employees and to engage all
employees in company strategy related discussions. One of the Management Board Members is also always
present and taking the Dutch Banking Oath of new staff.
As part of that effort, we enhanced our Vision and Strategy Committee structure by actively engaging
additional managers and new employees to contribute fresh ideas. In this year, we revisited our focus areas
for our strategies in order to more effectively address the internal and external developments. As a result,
our efforts will now continue to be directed toward corporate culture and human capital, and additionally to
operational excellence with digital innovation and superior service. We will continue this effort to ensure it is
embraced in all parts and layers of the organization.
As mentioned above we have also organized various off-site sessions with all management layers to discuss
vision, strategy, and various other external developments, such as Brexit and new European regulations,
that may impact our business and customers. Additionally, to ensure we have a healthy and motivated
team, our Supervisory Board and Management Board continue to focus on enhancing corporate culture and
development of staff. In May 2020 we are also expecting to relocate the office in a newly-renovated office
location, which is expected to further improve employee satisfaction and efficiencies.
We actively participated in key discussions with our Supervisory Board, shareholder, (senior) managers,
and all employees about our current and future strategy, which included looking for new business
opportunities and developments to make the company more resilient against market developments and
the evolving regulatory landscape. In addition to periodic meetings with department managers, we also
actively participated in key committees, such as Supervisory Board, Audit & Compliance Committee of the
Supervisory Board, Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board, Personnel Committee of the Supervisory
Board, MBE Risk Committee, Asset and Liability Management Committee, Portfolio Management
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Vision and Strategy Committee, and Management Committee.
In order to enhance communication between the Management Board and employees, we regularly
communicated though staff announcements and held various employee information sessions to explain items
such as the company’s strategy and current status.
Our highly diverse and talented employees are committed to providing top-notch service to our customers
while simultaneously upholding the highest level of integrity and ensuring compliance with the regulatory
environment. With respect to organizational changes, we made certain key changes to enhance efficiencies and
controls, particularly in the field of IT & data management, treasury middle office, and credit risk management.

There have been no changes in the composition of the Management Board, with two Management Board
positions filled by Japanese expatriates and the third position filled on the basis of a local and indefinite contract.

3.4 Financial Performance

Given the small size of the organization, we do not anticipate extending the size of our Management Board
at this time. Our Management Board members have thorough knowledge and experience in the banking
business as well as international experience gained in foreign countries. We are well aware of MBE’s role in
the banking sector, as well as the interests of relevant stakeholders, including our customers, employees,
shareholders, and regulators. Our engagement is, among other things, reflected in contributions to
organizations outside of MBE. In addition to being MBE’s Chairman, in 2019 Mr. Saito was a member of the

Our profit in 2019 increased for the second consecutive year. The total income increased to a new level of
almost € 70 million, which is a record for Mizuho Bank Europe NV. However, the total operating expenses
also increased significantly with more than € 12 million. This increase has mainly been caused by the addition
to the pension provision of € 7.6 million. As a result, the overall net profit for 2019 stood at € 24.0 million, an
increase of € 2.6 million from the year before.
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3.4.1 Operating Income
In 2019, operating income amounted to € 69.5
million. This is € 15.6 million higher than in 2018 and
is higher than any other year, even easily surpassing
the record year 2015. All three elements (interest,
commission, and result on financial operations)
contributed to this growth, but the main reason for
this increase has been the receipt of more event
driven fees for transaction services, which increased
by € 9.1 million to an amount of € 16.6 million. Only in
the financial year 2015 were more event driven fees
received. However, the nature of this income is and
has always been volatile.
The net interest income increased by € 6.3 million
to a robust € 34.9 million (21.9%). The increase was
mainly a result of the increase in us dollars loans
during the year. The income from financial operations
(e.g. results from foreign exchange transactions and
fair value changes derivatives) also contributed with
an increase and was € 5.9 million (10.3%) for the year.

3.4.2 Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses increased by more than €
12 million, a year-on-year increase of almost 50%.
The main trigger of this impact is the increase in the
pension expenses of € 7.6 million as an addition to
the ASC 715 pension liability, while in 2018 there was
a release of € 0.5 million.
One of the main factors in calculating the provision,
the discount rate, plummeted from 1.95% to 0.93%
leading to an increase of the projected benefit
obligation of € 15 million, which was not offset by
the increase of the plan assets of € 7.5 million. The
increase in pension expenses is in line with what
is seen in the market. Steps to control this liability
have been taken in recent years by the transfer of
the final pay plan to the average pay plan and by the
introduction of a defined contribution plan.
Excluding the pension movements for the ASC 715
liability, the other operating expenses increased as
well during the last couple of years:
(in €’000)

2019

2018

2017

Total operating expenses

37,122

24,791

24,636

Pension movement ASC 715 liability

(7,558)

451

(2,517)

Other operating expenses

29,564

25,242

22,119

The increase in the other operating expenses is
caused by more staff costs and other administrative
related expenses. Increased regulatory requirements
resulted in several projects within MBE, such as
the implementation of the interest rate risk of the
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banking book (IRRBB) and expected credit loss
model of IFRS 9, whereby additional fixed and
temporary staff were hired.
The other administrative expenses also increased
with almost € 3.7 million from prior year to an
amount of almost € 16.0 million. The supervision
expenses remained relatively stable this year, but
the main increase was in computer and software
expenses, office rent, and service level agreement
(SLA) charges. Increased regulatory requirements
resulted in expenses and investments in soft- and
hardware. The planned office move in Amsterdam
in May 2020 results in double rent from the summer
2019 onwards, and the office move in Madrid in 2019
resulted in a short period of double rent.

3.4.3 Efficiency Ratio
As a consequence of the pension expenses, MBE’s
efficiency ratio (the ratio of operating expenses to
operating income) went up to 53.4% (2018: 46.0%).
The efficiency ratio corrected for movements in
the pension provision decreased to 42.6% (2018:
46.9%), which is lower than in 2018 and 2017.
We are pleased to report that there were no
impairments of financial assets in 2019, unchanged
from the years preceding. Income tax charge for
2019 totaled € 8.3 million (2018: € 7.7 million). This
represents a tax burden of 25.8% (2018: 26.4%). The
decrease is mainly caused by last year’s rate changes.

3.4.4 Balance Sheet
The total assets at year-end amounted to € 3,835
million. This is a decrease compared to the previous
year (2018: € 4,231 million, 9.4%), which was
considered the highest balance sheet in years. The
decrease has been mainly the result of decreased
central bank balances to an amount of € 666 million
(2018: € 1,351 million) while on the credit side of the
balance sheet the total amounts owed decreased to
€ 3,172 million (2018: € 3,661 million). 61.9% (2018:
54.6%) of the assets consist of loans and advances
to corporate customers and 13.1% (2018: 11.3%) of
loans and advances to banks (excluding to central
banks) as these balances remained relatively stable
while the overall balance sheet total decreased.

3.4.5 IFRS
In 2020 we will implement the expected credit loss
model of IFRS 9. This was one of the options offered
by the Dutch Central Bank to the Dutch banks who
are still reporting under Dutch GAAP. We expect an
impact from this implementation in 2020 (we refer to
the notes to the financial statements under accounting

principles at 2b). In previous years we have not
suffered a loss or impairment on our financial assets.
As a result, a provision for impairment was never
considered necessary up to this year.

3.5 Risk Management
Risk is an inherent part of MBE’s business as a
bank. The main risks that MBE is exposed to are
credit, market, liquidity, business, and non-financial
risks. To manage these risks, MBE has a solid risk
management framework which is based on the three
lines of defense model.

3.5.1 Risk Governance
MBE’s Risk Management Charter defines its
governance and decision framework for both financial
and non-financial risks. This framework is evaluated on
an annual basis and adopted by the Management Board.
The core of the risk management framework is the
risk appetite, which determines the risk types and
levels that MBE would accept. The front offices, as
the first line of defense, own the risk and make sure
proper and effective controls are in place, keeping the
Bank within the boundaries of its risk appetite. Internal
control functions are the second line of defense,
including Planning & Risk Management Department,
Legal, Compliance, & Information Security
Department and the Credit Assessment Department.
Except for being responsible for setting up policies
and limits to ensure the first line of defense performs
as intended, the Risk Management function also
needs to properly identify, measure, and manage
risks in normal and stressed situations and to oversee
MBE’s business activities so that they are consistent
with its strategy and risk appetite. The Internal Audit
Department is the independent third line of defense,
which evaluates the effectiveness of governance, risk
management and control processes performed by
the first and second lines. The Management Board
has the ultimate responsibility for risk management,
monitored by the Supervisory Board.

3.5.2 Risk Appetite
MBE is committed to maintaining a low risk profile
and therefore sets the risk appetite as low for all risk
categories. MBE establishes a competitive advantage
by focusing on its customers’ needs, providing solutions
and taking appropriate risks that are commensurate
with MBE’s low risk profile. With this focus, we aim to
achieve improved corporate value through continued
and stable profitability, as well as by fulfilling our
social responsibility.
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From a top down perspective, MBE’s low risk
appetite is ensured by the Supervisory Board and
Management Board, as they designate that MBE
has to keep sufficient capital and liquidity buffers
above the regulatory minimum requirements by
setting up internal limits; maintain comfortable capital
and liquidity buffers by establishing target levels
under a business as usual situation; and build up
stringent risk management and control framework to
monitor, escalate and take preventative and remedial
actions immediately in case of deviating from the
comfortable levels.
From a bottom up perspective, MBE’s low risk
appetite is ensured by the fact that business units
understand the risks taken and only take risks
which fit MBE’s risk appetite. Our risk management
function monitors MBE’s risk profile meticulously
and coordinates immediate actions in case there is
concern that the comfortable level is to be infringed.
In order to promote appropriate risk-taking, we
have established robust governance and financial
foundations, which are essential to our business
activities. We also promote and embed a risk
culture whereby the management and employees
understand the risks underlying our own business
and take appropriate measures when necessary.
In addition, a thorough understanding of the risk
management framework and risk appetite is one of
the most important components of the on-boarding
training for new joiners, regardless of their position
and/or function in the company.
The Risk Appetite Framework continues to form the
foundation for our Risk Management Framework
(RMF) consisting of the Risk Management Charter,
Risk Management Statement, Risk Appetite
Framework and Statement, Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process (ICAAP), Internal Liquidity
Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP), and
Recovery Plan (RCP).

3.5.3 Risk Developments in 2019
In 2019, the macroeconomic environment was
defined by uncertainty related to the Brexit
negotiations, the trade disputes between the US
and China, and growing nationalism throughout
Europe. MBE continued to operate in a low interest
rate environment that has put pressure on net
interest margins.

3.5.3.1

Trend in European Regulatory Landscape

Since the introduction of the European Single
Supervisory Mechanism and the adoption of the
European Supervisory Methodology (Supervisory
Manual), MBE has observed that data-driven
supervision is becoming a more prominent trend.
New, complex and comprehensive data requests and
templates are introduced, challenging the Bank’s IT
system and risk management framework.
DNB assesses MBE’s risk management framework
through the Risk Assessment System (RAS) control
framework. During this process over past years,
MBE has been able to demonstrate a sound risk
management governance and framework. Even
though the continuously tightening regulatory
and supervisory environments pose significant
operational challenges, MBE stays vigilant in
complying with all applicable regulations within
tight timelines.

On top of that, MBE Risk Management also had
several important initiations/projects with the aim to
continuously enhance risk management practice and
creates value for the bank.
•

•

MBE’s ability to meet regulatory requirements,
demonstrated via its Supervisory Review &
Evaluation Process (SREP) submissions, was further
underlined in 2019 when DNB decided to include
MBE in its biennial SREP pilot program.
Meanwhile, we are also seeing rising supervisory
expectations, reflecting the growth of principlesbased supervisory approaches that emphasize the
importance of the Bank’s governance, culture, and
management approach and the outcomes, both
prudential and conduct. Supervisors are also adopting
more intrusive practices, including greater use of
on-site inspections. This reflects global leading
practice and the increasing need for supervisors to
engage directly with banks in order to understand
their strategies, business models, risk management
frameworks, and approaches.
3.5.3.2

Strengthening Risk Management

We think strengthening risk management should
be an ongoing process especially in the continually
changing and demanding external environment. MBE
is in continuous compliance with CRD IV and Basel
III. We are monitoring the key risk indicators on a
structural and ongoing basis, e.g. capital buffers,
leverage ratio, large exposures, Liquidity Coverage
Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR).
Though challenging due to the complexity and sheer
amount of reports and metrics to assess, the regulatory
reporting on these key metrics were accomplished
without any particular issue or major concerns.

26

•

Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.

•

Local data warehouse: MBE is vitally dependent
on its IT infrastructure for the reliability and
continuity of its operations. The Amsterdam
data warehouse (ADWH) was implemented
successfully in 2019, through which MBE
assumes the whole responsibility to control and
manages the integrated data source for internal
and regulatory reporting as well as future data
challenges. In the future, MBE aims to further
enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of
our IT infrastructure and the reliability and
continuity of IT processing by automating
manual processes.
Data management: a specialized Data
Management (DM) team has been established
under the IT department in 2018. In 2019, the
team was further expanded by an additional
two professionals to strengthen the local data
governance and IT development capabilities. DM
provided valuable support to various bank-wide
projects on data, system and IT solutions.
The interest rate risk framework: MBE has
successfully redesigned its interest rate
risk framework and met the supervisory
expectations on the implementation of the
revised Interest Rate Risk in the Banking
Book (IRRBB) Guidelines as published by the
European Banking Authority (EBA) in July 2018.
A vendor system was adopted to achieve a
streamlined reporting process and increased
stress testing capability. In addition, the creation
of an independent IRRBB policy and the
reintegration of the IRRBB into the risk appetite
framework contribute to a further strengthened
IRRBB framework.
The International Financial Reporting Standard 9
(IFRS 9): MBE decided it will continue reporting
under the Dutch GAAP but will implement the
expected credit loss model of IFRS 9 in the
transition to reporting non-performing loans
(NPLs) and provisions. A vendor solution was
successfully implemented to facilitate this
transition. The new provisioning model under
IFRS 9 is a major change in how the Bank
approaches credit risk allowance. The forwardlooking approach to credit loss is set to bring the
accounting and risk management functions of
the Bank closer.

3.5.4 Risk Outlook in 2020
Economic, political, and debt sustainability
challenges in the euro area have grown over 2019,
increasing risks to the euro area banking sector,
including credit risk and profitability prospects. The
euro area economic growth projections for 2019-20
still point towards economic expansion, however the
pronounced downside risks to growth remain, mainly
due to the persistent weaknesses in global trade and
higher geopolitical uncertainty. In particular, a further
escalation of trade disputes between the United
States and China might also weigh on business
confidence, threaten global supply chains, and
reduce global growth. Looking forward, we believe
we will see persistent low growth, low inflation/
deflation, and near zero/ negative interest rates
in Europe.
3.5.4.1

Brexit

Uncertainty around the United Kingdom's
membership of the EU remains high and the risk of a
no-deal Brexit remains. A no-deal Brexit could cause
significant market turbulence, potentially resulting in
tighter financing conditions.
The likelihood of a so-called ‘hard Brexit’ increased
significantly throughout 2019 and MBE was in
continuous discussion with key stakeholders to
understand both the risks and opportunities of Brexit
as adequately as possible. Since the last quarter of
2018 Mizuho Bank Ltd. and MBE started executing
its contingency plan for a hard Brexit, together with
all relevant group entities and departments, to ensure
that all of Mizuho’s clients will remain serviced in the
best possible way post-Brexit.
In light of a potential ‘hard Brexit’, MBE has applied
and obtained a long-term (A) and short-term issuer
credit rating (A-1) from S&P Global Ratings in March
2019. Nevertheless, Brexit continued to present
risks to MBE broadly from two perspectives.
Firstly, the outcome of the trade negotiation could
potentially impact the repayment ability of our
customers. A negative trade agreement between
the UK and the EU could mean different levels of
trade barriers for our customers residing in both the
EU and the UK. While MBE has limited exposures
to UK businesses, customers in the EU with strong
business ties with UK would experience negative
impact from such outcomes.
Secondly, the departure of the UK from the EU could
have negative effects on MBE because we rely on
certain functions of Mizuho Bank London branch.
Although our risk analysis suggests that there would
not be an immediate short-term impact, we are less
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sure about the longer term impact as a result of a
changing political and regulatory landscape. We
will continue to monitor the progress of the Brexit
negotiations and their potential impact to the business
of MBE and Mizuho Bank and we will continue to
closely cooperate with our group companies.
3.5.4.2

Increased Geopolitical Tensions

Under the presidency of Mr. Trump in the United
States there has been a fairly large number of
industries hit by the introduction of American trade
tariffs, some of which led to retaliatory trade tariffs
in other countries. This situation led to uncertainty
in the global (financial) markets and casted shadow
over the growth opportunities of the global economy
in 2020.
MBE pro-actively monitored the developments
and on various occasions discussed the impact of
these tensions in its Risk Committee and other risk
management related committees (e.g. Portfolio
Management Committee). Currently no direct or
indirect impact on MBE’s portfolio was observed.
While the Management Board does not believe this
presents significant risks, we will continue to closely
monitor the situation.
3.5.4.3

Regulatory Changes

As with any other financial institutions in Europe
and across the globe, MBE continues to be subject
to ever-increasing levels of new and modified
financial regulations. The past year again proved to
be an intensive year of ensuring that regulations are
fully understood and subsequently implemented.
MBE continues to monitor any regulatory changes
affecting the Bank by holding periodic or ad hoc
meetings to analyze and discuss impacts of new and
modified regulations.
The Capital Requirements Directive and Regulation
(CRD V and CRR II) will revise capital requirements
and could therefore strengthen the capital and
liquidity positions of EU banks, also leading to an
increase in minimum capital requirements and an
aggregated capital shortfall across EU banks. In
addition, the recent regulations will continue to
influence banks’ strategic decisions, e.g. the revised
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID II)
and the revised Payments Services Directive (PSD2).
Central banks and supervisory authorities are
increasingly focusing on climate change-related risks. It
is likely that climate change-related risks will have both
a direct and indirect impact on banks. More severe
weather phenomena and the transition to a low-carbon
economy could have significant adverse implications

3.5.4.4

Coronavirus outbreak

The Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak in China
which started in December 2019 is roiling the global
markets. Supply chains have been disrupted and a
slew of warnings have been issued by companies
across major sectors on potential impact to business.
Central banks worldwide have stepped up actions to
deal with the epidemic. Even though the spread of
COVID-19 appears to be have slowed down in China
recently, the growth rate outside China remains
erratic with recent spikes in almost all continents.
The COVID-19 is expected to reduce the baseline
world GDP growth rate in 2020 by 0.3%.

•

MBE has started the risk impact assessment and
set up contingency teams at an early stage to ensure
business continuity and contain possible negative
impact. MBE has identified its exposures to the
industries that are risk-sensitive to the COVID-19 global
disruption and closely monitor its risk profile changes.
In March 2020 stock markets experienced the
biggest losses since the 2008 financial crisis fueled
by investor panic over the COVID-19 outbreak and
the feared initiation of an oil price war by Saudi
Arabia. MBE has limited exposure to the energy
industry and closely monitors its liquidity status to
ensure ample liquidity buffer is in place to mitigate
any possible liquidity stress from the market.

Exposure to China and Italy: MBE has performed
an impact assessment on the potential credit
deterioration of direct exposures to borrowers
based in China or in Italy due to the COVID-19
disruption. The result is that the potential shortfall
is limited. MBE holds no direct exposure to
Chinese borrowers, and exposure to Italy is
limited to € 32million. The Expected Loss is very
low at € 40k, driven by the strong credit quality
of the borrowers or guarantees received on
those contracts.

•

The stock markets (incl. the banking industry and
MBE’s parent group) in Japan, Europe, and the
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Discontinuance of, or changes to, benchmark
rates as a result of these developments, as
well as uncertainty about the timing and
manner of implementation of such changes
or discontinuance, may require adjustments
to agreements that are referenced to current
benchmarked rates by us, our clients, and other
market participants as well as to our systems
and processes. This increases conduct/litigation,
reputational, and financial risks for the Bank.
Mizuho Bank Ltd. has initiated a project to
design, develop and implement the post-LIBOR
operating model for Mizuho Bank, EMEA. MBE
continuously monitors the risks of the transition
and will take appropriate actions to ensure that
MBE is prepared in time.

Impact on specific industries: MBE is closely
monitoring the potential impact of COVID-19 on
those industries flagged as the most vulnerable
to a supply-chain disruption in China, by splitting
its total portfolio into three industry groups
depending on the expected economic shortfall
(high, medium, or low). Subsequently, a more
granular analysis is run by assessing investment
and non-investment grade borrowers’ credit
quality. The result of this analysis is that 13.9% of
the total portfolio is subject to potential creditconcerning development. MBE is thoroughly
monitoring these exposures in an ongoing basis
and these are object of discussion in the Portfolio
Management Committee.
Expected Credit Loss (COVID Stress-Testing):
Based on the assessment of potential impact
on the most vulnerable industries on a global basis,
MBE runs stress-testing activities to determine
the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) arising from the
potential credit deterioration of these exposures.
MBE’s borrowers ratings are stressed by 1 or 2
notches downgrade depending on the expected
economic repercussions per industry. The severity
of the contemplated scenarios offer a range
of additional ECL , but even in the worst case
scenario, MBE has sufficient funds and net profit
generation to face additional credit impairments.

3.5.4.5

Other challenges

We also see some other prominent challenges,
including:
•

•

EONIA is the first index to be reformed. It will
be replaced by ESTER (Euro Short-Term Rate,
also called €STR). ESTER has been published by
the ECB since October 2019 based on the daily
submission of data from bank reports under the
MMSR (Money Market Statistical Reporting)
regulation. ESTER and EONIA will coexist until 3
January 2022 with EONIA being correlated with
ESTER, based on ESTER plus a spread.

•

The Management Board and the Risk Management
department are aware of the current situation and
are actively monitoring it as it develops. Our specific
focuses are:
•

reform. The UK Financial Conduct Authority
announced in 2017 that it will not endeavor to
sustain LIBOR beyond 2021 and urged users
to plan the transition to alternative reference
rates. Following the implementation of any such
(potential) reforms, the manner of administration
of benchmarks may change.

US started a downslide from mid-February 2020,
fueled by investor panic over the COVID- 19
outbreak. Moreover Japanese banks’ shares are
already falling as a result of the current situation
and the Federal Reserve’s recent interest rate
adjustments and the shares could fall further
should the Bank of Japan undertake additional
monetary easing, which will ultimately hurt banks’
earnings. However, until now, there is no internal
or external concern on liquidity stress. MBE and
its parent group are in close communication and
closely monitoring the market development and
liquidity situation through a wide range of early
warning indicators. MBE also performs stress
testing to ensure a sufficient liquidity buffer is
available to mitigate possible negative liquidity
impact. These exercises facilitate discussion and
decisions about whether any contingent liquidity
measures need to be taken.

for euro area banks, including for the continuity of their
operations and the risk profile of their assets (such as
exposures to the automotive sector). Understanding
and managing climate change-related risks are
expected to intensify in the longer term. MBE will
work on integrating this risk into their risk management
framework and closely monitoring the development.

Benchmark regulation and reforms: Benchmark
rates like the London Interbank Offered Rate
(LIBOR) are the subject of ongoing regulatory

Cybersecurity risk: Digitalization of financial
services makes banks more vulnerable to
cybercrime and operational IT deficiencies.
Cyber incidents can result in significant costs or
reputational losses for banks and can even have
systemic consequences, as threats can spread
quickly through sectors. Thus MBE is dedicated
to continuous enhancement of its IT risk controls
to mitigate cybersecurity risk.

3.5.4.6

Financial Position

MBE maintains a mid-term business and capital
plan as a part of our ICAAP process and we have
examined the impact to our profitability and capital
adequacy under the stressed environment. Based on
this, the Management Board believes that MBE is
able to maintain a sound financial position in the midterm, even under stress.
Detailed descriptions of individual risk management
items are set out in section 5.9 (Risk Management)
of this Annual Report.

29

Annual Report 2019

3.6 Compliance
Effective corporate governance in accordance
with high international standards is and has always
been one of our primary objectives. Our system
of corporate governance provides the basis for
responsible management and control of MBE, with
a focus on long-term, sustainable value creation.
It has four key elements: good relations with all
stakeholders, effective cooperation between the
Management Board and the Supervisory Board,
a performance-based compensation system with
a sustainable and long-term focus, as well as
transparent, effective, and timely reporting. As
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mizuho Bank, we
operate under our own banking license issued by
the Dutch Central Bank. Therefore, we implement
these elements in accordance with national and
international laws and regulations applicable in the
Netherlands. We acknowledge that compliance is
an on-going process, which is why our policies and
systems are under constant review. In line with the
increased regulatory focus on integrity and financial
crime, MBE’s Know Your Customer (‘KYC’) system
was further enhanced to better capture integrity risk.
Additionally, our Transaction Monitoring systems and
procedures are under review to ensure we do not
facilitate any money laundering or other transactions
that are illegal or unacceptable from an ethical point
of view.

3.6.1 Banker’s Oath
Effective 1 April 2015, the Dutch Financial
Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht, Wft)
requires that banks with a registered office in the
Netherlands ensure that their employees take the
Banker’s Oath within three months of employment.
The Banker’s Oath was introduced to help restore
society’s trust in the financial industry. Its initial
scope was extended to cover not only Management
Board and Supervisory Board members (the “first
echelon”), but also all employees of the bank.
MBE highly supports the purposes served by, and
underlying principles of, the Banker’s Oath, which are
fully in line with Mizuho values.
All new employees in 2019 took the Banker’s Oath
within three months of starting their positions. After
signing the Banker’s Oath, employees are invited to
put their signatures on a mirror, which is centrally
located in the bank and serves as a reminder for
everyone to continue to embed the rules of conduct
in their day-to-day business.

3.7 Remuneration
Unemployment within the EU further decreased in
2019. For the Netherlands, the availability of Dutch
national highly-skilled professionals decreased as
well but the availability of international highly-skilled
workers significantly increased due to Brexit. The
outcome of the elections and Brexit create positive
impact for the Dutch, German, and French labor
markets as many highly-skilled professionals choose
to relocate to these countries over the UK. Finding
specific professionals remains a challenge in the
current highly-competitive market, but the situation
significantly changed for the better compared
to 2018.
Employers are increasing their benefit packages
significantly in order to retain and attract new
professionals. This includes financial elements, but
also elements such as training, working from home,
and other non-financial benefits. MBE currently
provides market-level packages to its employees.
To retain and attract suitable employees MBE has
invested a lot in its diverse and inclusive corporate
culture in recent years. We do not follow a strategy
of providing market outlying financial packages, but
a sustainable strategy of providing a great place
to work, inclusion, and the ability to grow as a
professional. MBE has implemented a strategy that
stresses awareness of key elements for growth and
dares to drive tangible actions in pursuit of vision and
growth. We value and include our employees and
regard them as an important partner in driving the
success of our company.

3.7.1 Our Vision on Remuneration
As a Dutch-licensed bank we comply with the
Dutch Banking Code to determine our approach to
remuneration. Our remuneration policy consists of
a variety of topics such as awarding performance,
retention, and termination packages. In addition, we
also include topics for the composition of the variable
remuneration and the performance criteria used to
determine variable remuneration.
As a Japanese bank our company culture and
strategy embed steady, sustainable, and consistent
growth. This aspect, combined with a performance
management approach based on our customers’
interests, defines our variable remuneration policy.
We believe that a remuneration policy should avoid
a negative impact on the risk appetite and our
long-term business continuity. We also believe in
a balanced approach between financial and nonfinancial objectives in our remuneration decisions.
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3.7.2 Collective Labor Agreement Banks

3.7.4 Non-financial Remuneration

As a Dutch-licensed bank, Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.
abides by the Collective Labor Agreement (CLA)
Banks. The current CLA expired 1 January 2019.
A new two-year CLA has been agreed to, with the
unions running until 1 January 2021 anda structural
salary increase of 2.5% for both 2019 and 2020.

We are convinced that being an attractive employer in the current market goes beyond the financial aspect
of remuneration. We invest in developing the social environment, such as Insights Team Effectiveness,
sports activities, culture prize awards, corporate social responsibility events, and social employee events.
A dedicated, competent, and skilled workforce is key to a successful organization. We support our employees
in developing their talents and realizing their ambitions. To enhance the dialogue about personal and
career development we facilitated and trained our managers and employees in having fruitful development
conversations. These non-financial remuneration components will show a positive impact on
employee engagement.

The banking sector is changing rapidly as a result
of innovative technologies and the emergence of
new players. The new CLA pays explicit attention to
sustainable employability – for instance, to the vitality
and adaptability of employees. Employees need to
take initiative and continue to learn in order to further
develop their talents and devote attention to a good
balance between work and private life. MBE will
provide budget for training necessary for continued
employability. The existing vitality leave and scheme
for changed working hours for older employees
(the so called: 80-80-100 scheme) are seen as very
positive by the employees and CLA parties. MBE
will address these topics and facilitate this for the
coming years.

3.7.3 Financial Remuneration
We believe that a fair and balanced remuneration
package is a vital element for a sustainable
corporate culture and a productive organization.
For us, a balanced remuneration is in line with the
market value of our employees and reflects their
performance and as well as their responsibilities.
We strive for transparency and objectivity
around our (variable) remuneration, employee job
descriptions, potential career growth opportunities
and promotions. Clear individual objectives, company
results, and a proactive employee attitude define the
key elements within our appraisal process. In this
way, financial awards are linked to the impact our
professionals have on our company’s continuity and
sustainable growth.
We have a separate remuneration approach for our
Management Board members, as their performance
is mostly related to the overall office rating, which
is determined by Mizuho Bank in Tokyo. This office
rating is not only related to financial performance,
but also internal control, operational, expense control,
strategic deliverables, and risk-avoiding performance
across the year. The external members and advisors
of the Supervisory Board receive a fixed fee. This
fee is benchmarked and not related to our company’s
performance or results and is agreed upon in advance.

3.7.5 Variable Remuneration
Our performance-related variable remuneration (bonus) is controlled by our Remuneration Policy, as well as
laws and regulations like the Law on Remuneration for Financial Institutions (Wet Beloningsbeleid Financiële
Ondernemingen), the Act on Controlled Remuneration (Regeling Beheerst Beloningsbeleid) and the Banking
Code (Code Banken).
MBE’s variable remuneration is linked to our annual appraisal framework and concrete business results,
and is controlled by a governance structure which consists of a Remuneration Committee and a Personnel
Committee. The Remuneration Committee, which meets on multiple occasions, consists of our Management
Board and the Head of Human Resources. The Personnel Committee is a subcommittee of the Supervisory
Board, which is also attended by the Management Board and the Head of Human Resources. During this
Personnel Committee meeting, the Supervisory Board decides if the purported variable remunerations are
fair, consistent, and compliant with MBE’s Remuneration Policy approved by the DNB. Therefore, the longterm interest of the bank, as well as the relevant international context and wider social acceptance, are all
considered by this Committee.
All employees under an employment contract with MBE, and HO-employees temporarily assigned to
MBE (expats), are eligible for variable remuneration. In line with market practice, any variable remuneration
in excess of a specified threshold is subject to a deferral policy. For those individuals where deferral is
applicable, 60% of the total variable remuneration will be paid up-front on the bonus payment date
following the end of the financial year (year one). The remaining 40% will be subject to a three year deferral
period, paid in equal installments on the bonus payment dates in years two, three, and four, subject to
forfeiture conditions.
In 2019 we had no employees earning more than € 1 million and the total amount which was paid in 2019 on
variable components to local contracted employees was € 944,685 (gross) in total for our four offices.
In line with the principles of the Banking Code, we can decide to claw-back variable remuneration in whole or
in part. The following conditions are subject to claw-back, and are described in our Remuneration Policy:
•

Granting and pay-out of the variable remuneration occurred based on incorrect information on meeting
the goals or circumstances that were conditions for the relevant remuneration;

•

The relevant employee did not comply with proper norms in respect to expertise or correct behavior
(such as a material violation of applicable rules and regulations); or

•

The relevant employee has been responsible for behavior that resulted in a significant deterioration of the
financial position or reputation of MBE.

The Management Board ultimately decides on the claw-back of remuneration for non-Identified Staff,
whereas the Personnel Committee of the Supervisory Board decides on the claw-back for Identified Staff.
Such a decision shall always be taken after consulting the relevant shareholder's representative, the head
of Human Resources, and the head of Legal and Compliance. For 2019 there were no reasons (or potential
indications) identified that triggered a claw-back for our employees.
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2019 MBE Team

3.8 Our Employees
We are convinced that our employees make a significant contribution to the continuity and growth of our
company. To understand our strengths and weaknesses as an organization, we ask our employees for input
in our annual employee survey. The results of this survey support MBE to further develop its organization
in areas such as Corporate Culture, Human Capital, and Operational Excellence. Besides hearing their voice
through this annual survey, our employees can also impact the company by joining the Vision and Strategy
Committee. This Committee has successfully implemented several initiatives to further improve our
company, and the Bank has begun to more actively communicate on the follow-up of the employee survey.

3 out of 15 managers are women
40% Women / 60% Men

3.8.1 Management Changes

23 Total Nationalities

2018 MBE Team

As of 1 January 2019 Mr. Kambara completed his assignment as Head of Corporate Finance 2. He was
replaced by Mr. Nakamura, who was promoted from Department Head of Customer Credit - Service
Department to senior manager Corporate Finance 2. His position was taken up by Ms. Uchida on 1 January.
As per 28 May 2019, Mr. Witkamp accepted an overseas assignment within Mizuho Financial Group and was
appointed Senior Manager Corporate Resources. Mr. Witkamp has been replaced by Mrs. Damen as Head
HR and Facility Management who joined on 6 June. On 1 July, Ms. Roeling was officially appointed as Head
Legal & Compliance.

3.8.2 Promoting Diversity

1 out of 15 managers are women
42% Women / 58% Men

27 Total Nationalities

2017 MBE Team

Mizuho is a diverse organization with members from a broad range of backgrounds, values, knowledge, and
experience. We are working to create an inclusive workplace where this diversity is embraced, the work
environment is welcoming, and different perspectives are respected. Starting this year our Head Office
designated November as Diversity and Inclusion Month worldwide.
This month is about taking specific actions in order to gain a better understanding of diversity, share diverse
perspectives, and enhance connectivity both within and outside the organization in order to promote diversity
and inclusion at Mizuho. The ultimate objective is to foster an inclusive work environment and a corporate
culture that leads to continual creation of new corporate value.
In order to successfully participate in the transition to the next generation of financial services and to continue
to create new value in finance and adjacent fields, it is each individual’s responsibility to develop a good
understanding of diversity, actively share their perspective, and take action at a personal level.
We organized workshops in our Amsterdam Office to learn more about generation management: for a better
understanding of internal dynamics but also to more fruitfully interact with our clients.

1 out of 15 managers are women
43% Women / 57% Men

25 Total Nationalities

2016 MBE Team

Over the past years our employee population has become more international. As of 2019 our employees
represent 23 different nationalities.
In addition to diversity in employee nationalities, we remain committed to increasing gender diversity within
our organization. As an organization we have healthy retention rates, and vacancies arise infrequently. For the
two managerial vacancies which occurred in 2019, two female managers were appointed. We continue to
increase diversity across our recruitment approach by considering candidates irrespective of their nationality,
gender, beliefs, or age.

1 out of 15 managers are women
40% Women / 60% Men
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23 Total Nationalities
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3.8.3 Learning and Development

3.9.3 Sponsorship

We operate in a highly dynamic environment with increasing demands from regulators and customers. Also,
our competitors and rapid advance in technology require us to continuously develop ourselves. Since we are
a relatively flat organization, this also creates dependencies on individual specialists. Therefore, learning &
development has a strategical position within the Mizuho Group. Managers and employees alike are facilitated
and engaged to ensure they follow sufficient training to keep them ‘fit’ for their job.

Considering our roots in Japan and our extensive Japanese customer portfolio, we are committed to
supporting local Japanese organizations. We strive to show our commitment to the expansion of the local
Japanese community and also want to contribute indirectly to the development of business between the
Netherlands and Japan.

In 2019 approximately 2% of our total salary costs was allocated to training and development. Besides an
increased training ratio we also saw a positive shift where employees focus not only on the technical training,
but also more and more on the development of their professional (soft) skills. To support MBE’s Vision &
Strategy and succession planning initiatives, we developed and implemented the Human Capital Scan. In
addition, we started a development conversation project to support employees in actively thinking about
their own career and development. We cooperated with the Vision & Strategy committee to enhance the
impact of our corporate culture academy program. In this program we paid specific attention to intercultural
aspects of teamwork, as well as teamwork dynamics (Insights Discovery) and Myers Briggs Type Indicator
for Management Board. On a managerial level we have conducted a series of management training to
support managers in further developing their professional skills, including training in conducting development
conversations with their employees.

3.9 Doing More for Society
Given our presence in the Netherlands for more than 45 years, we recognize the importance of corporate
social responsibility within the region. Specifically, we aim to provide support to both vulnerable communities
in the area and local communities which share a common background to our employees’ diversity. Our
corporate social responsibility philosophy consists of three key components: local partnership, social
contribution, and sponsorships.

3.9.1 Local Partnership
We continued our partnership with a local organization, Nederland Cares. With this partnership, our
employees volunteered at local organizations on a regular basis to help members of vulnerable communities.
In addition, we provide a financial contribution to Nederland Cares so that they can organize additional events
throughout the city.

3.9.2 Social Contribution
In 2019, roughly a quarter of our employees donated their time to participate in a variety of volunteer
events. These volunteer events were all aimed at helping vulnerable communities and the elderly in the
Amsterdam area. We believe that it is important to give back to our local community. As an organization, we
are committed to continue to volunteer our time to support vulnerable populations in the area. Examples of
activities from 2019 consist of the following:
•

•
•

Meal Preparation: We prepared meals using donated ingredients from restaurants and supermarkets for
the homeless and the elderly, in order to reduce food waste and create a setting within the community
for interaction with fellow members of the neighborhoods.
Christmas Decorations: We volunteered to help put up Christmas decorations at an elderly home in
Amsterdam, including giving out handwritten Christmas cards.
Cooking for the Elderly: We cooked warm meals at a residential care center in Amsterdam South for the
residents who often do not have much opportunity for interactions and conversations.
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As such, we are a sponsor of and we also provide a financial contribution to the Japan Desk in the Amstelland
Hospital. The Japan Desk was established in March 2010 to support mainly the Japanese expatriates and
their families for medical consultation in their native language in the Netherlands.
Furthermore, as a Japanese bank within the Netherlands, we support the cultural exchange between the
Netherlands and Japan. We are a long-time supporter of the famous Van Gogh Museum in the museum
quarter of Amsterdam. We are a part of the Global Circle of the Van Gogh Museum, a network of patrons,
who make a vital contribution to the accessibility of the Museum and its collection.

3.10 Closing Remarks
Keeping in mind the fact that 2019 has been a challenging year, when it comes to meeting organizational
and regulatory challenges, MBE can proudly look back at a year where we have been able to outperform our
business targets, both in terms of financial and management accounting basis. We have been able to capture
some really important deals and deepen our relationships with many of our core customers, and we worked
hard to capture new business opportunities and new customers. We clearly see that our employees are
working hard to drive the success of our clients and advance the prosperity of the economies and societies
of EMEA and beyond. This is a great achievement, and the Management Board would like to thank you all for
making it happen. Particularly, the Management Board, branch managers, senior managers, managers, and
all MBE employees would also like to express our sincere appreciation to our customers for their trust and
continued business with the Mizuho Financial Group and the bank. We are working hard to drive the success
of our clients and advance the prosperity of the economies and societies of EMEA and beyond.
The Management Board would also like to take this opportunity to thank Mr. Nagamine (Chairman of the
Supervisory Board), the Supervisory Board members, and the advisor of the Supervisory Board for their
continuous support and valuable contribution. Additionally we would like to thank MBE’s staff for their hard
work and dedication, as well as all our customers for their commitment and continued support. We look
forward to continuing servicing and working with all our stakeholders to make 2020 a successful year for
MBE and the Mizuho Financial Group.
Amsterdam, 17 March 2020
Management Board
Kenji Saito
Chief Executive Officer
Member of the Management Board
Eiji Katayama
Chief Business Officer
Member of the Management Board
Jens Pöhland
Chief Risk & Financial Officer
Member of the Management Board
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Future Oriented
Banking
On 1 January 2010, the Dutch Banking Code came
into effect, which laid out the guiding principles for
Dutch banks in terms of corporate governance, risk
management, audit and remuneration on a socalled ‘comply or explain’ basis. It was introduced
in response to a report entitled ‘Restoring Trust’
published in 2009 by the Advisory Committee on
the Future of Banks (Adviescommissie Toekomst
Banken) in the Netherlands.
In 2013 a follow-up report was published by the
Committee Wijffels, in which the committee called
upon Dutch banks to take additional steps towards
regaining trust from customers and society as a
whole. In response, the Dutch Banking Association
(NVB) introduced a set of documents entitled
‘Future Oriented Banking’. The package comprises
a Social Charter, an updated Banking Code and a
Banker’s Oath with associated Rules of Conduct. The
principles of the Banking Code 2010 that have been
incorporated into legislation are not included in the
new code, but naturally we continue to comply with
these principles.
Since MBE does not have a separate website, the
below overview reflects the status of our compliance
with the renewed Banking Code over the financial
year 2019. For more information on each of the
sections, please see the respective chapters in this
Annual Report 2019.

4.1	Compliance with the
Banking Code
4.1.1 Sound and ethical operation
We have an ambitious, but realistic medium and
long-term business plan and strategy, aligned
with the Mizuho Bank’s global mission to provide
customers with the highest quality services and to
be our customers most trusted bank. We embed
this strategy in our internal policies on, among
other things, risk, compliance, and corporate
social responsibility. The Management Board and
Supervisory Board, with due regard for each other’s
duties and powers, are responsible for a sound
governance structure and compliance therewith.
Putting the customer first, while taking into account
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the needs of all other stakeholders is an integral part
of MBE’s identity, vision, and strategy. All employees
are made aware of our vision through the use of
training, management updates and MBE’s intranet.
The Management Board and Supervisory Board lead
by example.
To increase staff awareness of and engagement
with MBE’s business strategy and principles, a
Vision and Strategy Committee was set up in
2016. This committee comprises employees from
various departments and levels, and focuses
on the following pillars: operational excellence,
corporate culture, and human capital. In recognition
of its importance, in 2018 department heads and
members of the Management Board have been more
actively involved. Department heads were added
to the sub-committees for each of the pillars and a
member of the Management Board was assigned to
act as a sponsor for the pillar closest to his area of
expertise. The new set-up ensures stronger support
for the Committee’s initiatives and a company-wide
commitment.
As MBE is well aware of its role in and
responsibilities towards society, we continued
our partnership with the non-profit organization
Amsterdam Cares as part of MBE’s Corporate Social
Responsibility program. Various employees and
members of Management Board volunteered to
participate in one of the social projects organized by
MBE. The Management Board and employees were
very enthusiastic to participate in the projects and
will continue to do so in 2020.
The ‘Know Your Customer’ and ‘Customer Due
Diligence’ procedures are essential for a bank, and
therefore on a continuous basis we monitor changes
in the external landscape and review and update
our procedures in line therewith. The bank’s risk
framework is continuously being enhanced, taking
into account MBE’s mission, strategy, and objectives.
To enhance dialogue with other compliance
departments, together with Mizuho Bank London
branch the EMEA Regulatory and Compliance
network is held on a regular basis.
Acknowledging the fact that IT plays a vital role in
the functioning of the bank, we are committed to
maintaining a solid IT infrastructure, and enhancing the
same where necessary. In this age of digitalization,
the proper delivery of services and data to our
stakeholders in terms of availability, confidentiality, and
integrity is of the utmost importance. To safeguard
the proper functioning of our IT and outsourced
operations, this is taken into account in decisions and
processes by every department within MBE, up to the
Management Board.
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In 2019 MBE has put more focus on strengthening
its information security and the prevention of
cybercrime by inter alia performing phishing tests,
vulnerability scanning, and penetration tests on a
periodic basis. Furthermore, MBE has performed
a dry run with regard to cyber incidents, which has
helped to provide insights in how to act in a situation
MBE is experiencing a cyber incident. In 2020
MBE will further enhance its information security
framework by implementing the new EBA guidelines,
which will become applicable as of June 2020, into
its framework. By strengthening key departments
and further enhancing our IT infrastructure and
employees’ awareness of a safe control environment,
the risks of cybercrime and data leakage will
be mitigated.

4.1.2 Supervisory Board
MBE’s Supervisory Board is composed in a way
that it can perform its tasks properly. Each member
has its specific competencies and expertise needed
to adequately perform its supervising tasks with a
critical, independent view. Our Supervisory Board
has four members, two of which are independent.
For the concept of independence, DNB refers to the
criteria laid down in the Dutch Corporate Governance
Code. Even though the Corporate Governance
Code only applies to listed entities, MBE voluntarily
adheres to its provisions where and when possible.
The Supervisory Board members each are of a
different nationality, and one of them is female.
Like previous years, the Management Board and
Supervisory Board have been advised by an external
advisor, Mr. Van de Merwe, on various issues on
both a local and an EU level, with the main focus on
governance, compliance and audit matters, and the
evaluation of the functioning of the Supervisory Board.
The Supervisory Board evaluated its functioning
through the annual self-assessment, which is carried
out every three years under independent supervision.
As part of this self-assessment process, in addition
to the self-assessment forms, the external advisor
also meets with each Supervisory Board member and
any other MBE stakeholder as he deems necessary
for an interview. In these interview sessions, the
self-evaluation form will be the starting point, but
other relevant topics may also be discussed to get a
more holistic view of the company and the tone at
the top. As explained in the Supervisory Board report,
for 2019 there was a slightly different set-up since an
external specialized consultancy firm has assessed
the self-evaluation process and the independence
of Mr. Van de Merwe. Even though the outcome of
the report was very positive, we will always strive
to further enhance processes and optimize the

functioning and oversight of the Supervisory Board.
The members of the Supervisory Board receive
appropriate compensation for their work, which
does not depend on the bank’s results.

4.1.3 Management Board
In 2019, the Management Board consisted of three
members. In view of the bank’s size and nature, such
a number is considered sufficient to perform its tasks
properly. In the case of vacancies, attention is given
to the composition of the Management Board with
respect to professional experience, competencies
and, to the extent possible in the relatively
small setting, to gender, nationality, and cultural
background. Each member is assigned specific tasks
and responsibilities, matching each member’s skills
and expertise, with a clear separation of risk-related
and commercial-related areas. MBE’s Management
Board Charter provides further details outlining
these responsibilities.
Like in previous years, in 2019 the chairman initiated
the organization of MBE’s Lifelong Education
Program, which each member joined in order to
maintain the level of expertise and to enhance skill
and knowledge sets where necessary.

4.1.4 Risk Policy
MBE’s risk management framework is transparent,
comprehensive, and has a short- and long-term
focus. It covers all relevant risk types and business
lines and also takes reputational risks and nonfinancial risks into account. The Management
Board determines MBE’s risk appetite, which is
subsequently approved by the Supervisory Board
and they take this into account in all strategic
discussions and business operations. Any material
changes to the risk appetite in the interim also
requires the Supervisory Board’s approval. The
Supervisory Board supervises the risk capital and
liquidity strategy of the bank and obtains advice
in that respect from the Audit and Compliance
Committee and the Risk Committee.

4.1.6 Remuneration Policy
MBE’s Remuneration Policy, which is applicable to
all employees working with the bank, reflects the
principles of the Banking Code and is in line with
national and international law and regulations on
sound remuneration policies. To ensure that policies
remain compliant, they are reviewed on a regular
basis by the Management Board as well as the
Personnel Committee and the Supervisory Board.
Our Remuneration Policy has a primarily long-term
focus and is in line with MBE’s risk policy.
Our Remuneration Policy is set up in a transparent
way and incorporates an internal and external balance
of interests, taking into account the expectations
of various stakeholders and social acceptance.
However, in light of the size of the organization, the
composition of the Management Board and our
shareholder structure, it has been decided not to
benchmark remuneration of the Management Board
members outside of the financial sector, which has
been discussed with the Supervisory Board.
Save for the above mentioned deviation, MBE fully
complies with the principles of the Banking Code and
we are committed to do so in the following years.

4.1.5 Audit
MBE has an Internal Audit department with an
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independent position within the bank, for objective
assurance as the third line of defense. On the
basis of the Internal Audit Plan, the Internal Audit
department evaluates and examines whether or not
adequate governance, risk management, and control
processes are in place. The head of the Internal Audit
department reports to the Management Board, but
also has a direct reporting line to the chairman of the
Audit and Compliance Committee of the Supervisory
Board. Exchange of information between the
Internal Audit department, the external auditor, and
the Supervisory Board takes place in the Audit and
Compliance Committee, which was held two times
in 2019. In addition, the Internal Audit department
is in regular contact with the chairman of the Audit
Compliance Committee and the external auditor for
discussion and consultation purposes. Tripartite talks
between the Internal Audit department, the external
auditor, and the regulator are held periodically to
discuss risk analysis, planning, and results.
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Financial Statements
5.1 Balance Sheet

5.2 Profit and Loss Account

(Before proposed appropriation of result for the financial year)
Assets (in €’000)
Balances with central banks

5

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

666,038

1,350,986

(in €’000)

2019

Interest and similar income

27

146,100

Interest expense and similar charges

28

(111,226)

2018
122,876
(94,276)

Loans and advances to banks

6

500,391

476,698

Loans and advances to customers

7

2,371,895

2,309,925

Debt securities

8

152,215

-

Intangible fixed assets

9

2,188

733

Tangible fixed assets

10

5,088

1,051

Derivatives

11

40,540

42,071

Deferred tax assets

12

4,325

2,804

Other assets

13

74,970

32,356

Staff costs and other administrative expenses

32

Prepayments and accrued interest

14

17,205

14,269

Amortization intangible fixed assets

9

(364)

(242)

Depreciation tangible fixed assets

10

(360)

(395)

3,834,855

Total assets

4,230,893

(Before proposed appropriation of result for the financial year)
Liabilities (in €’000)

34,874
Commission income

29

29,230

Commission expense

30

(495)

31/12/2018

Result on financial operations

15

1,121,560

1,314,500

Amounts owed to customers

16

2,050,051

2,346,319

Derivatives

17

38,977

39,439

Other liabilities

18

105,803

46,614

Deferred tax liabilities

12

-

-

Provisions

19

19,895

12,337

3,336,286

3,759,209

2,870

-

Total liabilities
Sub-ordinated loan

20

Share capital

21

191,794

Legal reserve

21

939

939

Share premium

21

4,342

4,342

Other reserves

21

274,609

253,229

Result for the financial year

21

24,015

21,380

Shareholder’s equity
Total equity and liabilities

471,684

3,834,855

4,230,893

Contingent liabilities

22

738,555

731,438

Commitments

23

726,231

730,440
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19,913

5,872

5,325

69,481

53,838

(36,398)

(24,154)

-

Impairment of financial assets

-

Total operating expenses

(37,122)

(24,791)

Operation result before taxation

32,359

29,047

(8,344)

(7,667)

24,015

21,380

33

191,794

495,699

31

Total operating income

Net result
Amounts owed to banks

(447)
28,735

Income tax
31/12/2019

28,600
20,360
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5.3 Cash Flow Statement

5.4 Statement of Movement in Equity

(in €’000)
Net result
Provisions

19

Amortization intangible fixed assets

2019

2018

24,015

21,380

(in €’000)

Share
Capital

Legal
Reserve

Share
Premium

Other
Reserves

Result for
the year

Total

Balance as at 1 January 2018

191,794

939

4,342

236,563

16,666

450,304

Net result

-

-

-

-

21,380

21,380

Appropriation of 2017 result

-

-

-

16,666

(16,666)

-

Balance as at 31 December 2018

191,794

939

4,342

253,229

21,380

471,684

Balance as at 1 January 2019

7,558

(481)

9

364

242

Depreciation tangible fixed assets

10

360

395

Amortization of debt securities

8

428

2,335

191,794

939

4,342

253,229

21,380

471,684

Movement in derivatives

11/17

1,069

759

Net result

-

-

-

-

24,015

24,015

Movement deferred taxes

12

(1,521)

552

Appropriation of 2018 result

-

-

-

21,380

(21,380)

-

191,794

939

4,342

274,609

24,015

495,699

Balance as at 31 December 2019
Adjustments

8,258
(15,079)

3,802

Loans to banks other than on demand

6

Amounts owed to banks other than on demand

15

(192,946)

278,310

Loans and advances to customers

7

(61,970)

(235,514)

Amounts owed to customers

16

(296,268)

282,684

Other assets

13

(42,614)

14,252

Prepayments and accrued interest

14

(2,936)

(1,324)

Other liabilities

18

59,189

(30,708)

Cash flow from operating activities

198,237

(552,624)

505,937

Investment in debt securities

8

(152,643)

-

Investment in intangible fixed assets

9

(1,819)

(516)

Investment in tangible fixed assets

10

(4,397)

(201)

Redemptions of debt securities

8

-

100,000

Disposals of intangible fixed assets

9

-

-

Disposals of tangible fixed assets

10

-

34

Cash flow from investment activities
Sub-ordinated loan

(158,859)
20

Cash flow from finance activities
Net cash flow

2,870

99,317
-

2,870

-

(676,340)

630,436

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year

38

1,443,074

812,638

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

38

766,734

1,443,074

(676,340)

630,436
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5.5	Notes to the
Financial Statements
1.

General Information

Group structure
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. (MBE) was established
in 1974 and is a 100% subsidiary of Mizuho Bank
Ltd., which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Mizuho Financial Group. MBE is a public
limited liability company with its corporate seat
in Amsterdam and registered at the Chamber of
Commerce under RSIN number: 003263332. MBE
is located at Apollolaan 171, 1077 AS in Amsterdam
(the Netherlands) and has three branches: Brussels
(Belgium), Vienna (Austria) and Madrid (Spain).
Activities
The main activities of MBE and all its branches
are corporate banking, to lead and participate in
syndicates and to deal in bonds and other financial
instruments such as foreign exchange and derivative
products. MBE has a banking license under the
Dutch Financial Supervision act (Wet op het
financieel toezicht).
Currency
MBE uses euro (€) as functional currency and
presentation currency, since the currency of the
primary economic environment, the Netherlands,
is euro.
Going concern
The Management Board has made an assessment
of its ability to continue as a going concern and is
satisfied that it has the resources to continue in
business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore,
the Management Board is not aware of any material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon
the ability of the bank to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the financial statements continue to be
prepared on the going concern basis.
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2.

Accounting principles

2a. Basis of preparation
The financial statements for this financial year
have been prepared in accordance with the legal
requirements for the financial statements of banks
contained in Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
The financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost basis, unless stated otherwise.
The principle accounting policies adopted are set out
below. These have been applied consistently for all
years presented with the exception of the forecasted
change in accounting principles as described below
in paragraph 2b, which will be implemented from the
financial year 2020 onwards.
2b. Intended change in accounting principles
In 2020, MBE has the intention to implement
one phase of IFRS 9: impairments as allowed by
Article 290 of the Dutch Accounting Standards.
The recognition and measurement of impairment is
future-oriented within IFRS 9, which is based on an
expected credit loss (ECL) model applied by more
Mizuho offices within the group. The model will be
applied to the following financial assets: balances
with central banks, loans and advances to banks,
loans and advances to customers, debt securities,
contingent liabilities and undrawn commitments,
which are valued at amortized cost. From 1 January
2020 onwards this will replace the current accounting
principle on impairment as stated under 2h.
MBE has conducted the impact analysis of the
impairment within the ECL model. The most
important concepts and assumptions underlying
this model, have been determined and captured in a
policy. The three stage approach has been adopted
to the determination of the expected credit losses:
1.

Stage 1: 12 month ECL – performing assets.
Financial assets that have not had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition
require a provision for expected credit losses
associated with the probability of default events
occurring within the next 12 months.

2.

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – underperforming assets.
For financial assets which endure a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a provision will be calculated based on all
possible default events over the lifetime of
the financial asset.

3.

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – nonperforming assets.
Financial assets, which are considered to meet

the definition of default, are classified into stage
3. This requires a provision over the lifetime of
the financial asset. The interest income is based
on the effective interest on the amortized cost
carrying amount; i.e. net of any credit allowance.
Based on the concept and assumptions of the model,
which will be implemented at 1 January 2020,
the impact of the expected credit losses on the
financial assets as at 31 December 2019 amounts to
approximately € 1,013,921.
2c. Foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies as well as forward transactions in foreign
currencies, which relate to funds borrowed and
lent, are converted at the spot rate as at balance
sheet date. Other outstanding forward transactions
in foreign currencies are valued at the applicable
forward rate for the residual term to maturity as at
the balance sheet date.
Exchange rate differences arising from the conversion
of assets and liabilities are stated in the profit and loss
account. Transactions and the resulting income and
charges in foreign currencies are converted at the rate
applicable on transaction date.

The cost of the defined benefit pension plan and the
pension liabilities is determined using an independent
actuarial valuation. The actuarial valuation involves
making assumptions on discount rate, expected
inflation, expected wage increases, expected return
on net assets, expected indexation and on mortality
and disability rates, employment turnover and
retirement. Due to the long-term nature of these
plans, such estimates are subject to significant
uncertainty. In order to assure consistency in the
calculation, the assumptions used are in line with
assumptions from previous years. In 2020 we have
planned to scrutinize the underlying assumptions
to assess whether they are still applicable as these
have been used for several years while markets have
changed significantly since the last update. We refer
to note 19 for the calculation of pension liability and
the assumptions used.
2e. Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognized when:
•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired, or

•

the bank has the right to transfer the assets at
any given time to a third party in exchange for
the balance of any and all remaining amounts
due by a debtor to the bank; or

•

the bank has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset.

2d. Use of estimates in the preparation of
financial statements
In preparing the financial statements, the
Management Board is required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect reported income, expenses,
assets, liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. Use of available information and
application of judgment are inherent in determining
estimates. Although these estimates are based on
the Management Board’s best knowledge of current
events and actions, actual results in the future could
differ from such estimates and the differences may be
material to the financial statements.
At the year-end, MBE reviews its significant
individual loans and advances to assess whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in the profit and
loss account. The Management Board’s judgement
is required in the estimation of the amount and
timing of future cash flows when determining
the impairment loss. The estimates are based on
assumptions about a number of factors and are
based on any arrears in loan and interest repayments
at the year-end and loan losses recorded during the
financial year.
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The net result is the result gained on the transactions
in derecognized assets and liabilities and is included
in the commission income (refer to note 29). The
derecognized assets are disclosed in note 26.
The result on transactions in assets for which the
parent bank has provided MBE hedges, guarantees
and other risk mitigating services is booked as
interest income as MBE is the controlling party of
the assets.
2f. Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the balance sheet if, and
only if, there is an enforceable legal right to offset
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

2g. Credit risk mitigating products
MBE seeks to use several products, where possible,
to mitigate its credit exposure. The products come
in various forms such as letters of credit, parental
guarantees, and guarantees from other Mizuho
offices, collateralized deposits from customers and
credit enhancements such as pledge agreements.
The value of these products is generally assessed,
at a minimum, at inception and on an annual basis.
However, on a daily basis MBE uses active market
data to review whether there are any indications for
deterioration of the value of these products.
2h. Impairment of financial assets
MBE assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset,
or group of financial assets, is impaired. A financial
asset, or a group of financial assets, is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence
if impairment as a result of one or more events that
has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that
the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization and where observable data indicate
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

The rationale for the focus on this part of the portfolio
derives from the concerns of the European supervisory
authorities about the deterioration of the quality of
the portfolio; it is feared that forbearance measures
might camouflage this deterioration of the portfolio as
debtors are able to meet their financial obligations for
longer periods owing to the concessions.
2i. Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement has been drawn up
according to the indirect method, subdivided into
the cash flows from operating activities, investment
activities and financing activities during the period. Cash
and cash equivalents, as referred to in the cash flow
statement, comprises of non-restricted balances with
central banks and amounts due from banks on demand.
In the net cash flow from operating activities, the net
result is adjusted in respect to items in the profit and
loss account and movements in balance sheet items,
which do not result in actual receipts or expenditure
during the financial year.
2j. Statement of movement in equity
This item shows the movement in share capital and
reserves including profit of the current year.

3.

Principles for valuation of assets and liabilities

3a. Balances with central banks
This item comprises of current account balances with
central banks, including the mandatory reserve deposits.
3b. Loans and advances to banks

In 2015 the bank developed a policy for monitoring its
forbearance portfolio. Forborne exposures are debt
contracts in respect of which forbearance measures
have been extended. Forbearance measures consist
of following concessions towards a debtor facing
or about to face difficulties in meeting its financial
commitments that may or may not lead to a loss as
the bank:

Loans and advances to banks are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. Such
financial assets are initially recorded at fair value
and measured subsequently at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method. Interest on loans
and advances is included in interest income and is
recognized on an effective interest rate method.

•

An allowance for credit losses is established if there
is objective evidence that the bank will be unable to
collect all amounts due on a loan according to the
original contractual terms or the equivalent value. The
allowance is reported as a reduction of the carrying
value of a claim on the balance sheet. Additions and
reductions to the allowances for credit losses are
recorded in the profit and loss account.

•

A modification of the previous terms and
conditions of a contract the debtor is considered
unable to comply with due to its financial
difficulties (“troubled debt”) to allow for
sufficient debt service ability, that would not
have been granted had the debtor not been in
financial difficulties;

3c. Loans and advances to customers

3g. Derivatives recorded at cost

Loans and advances to customers are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. Such
financial assets are initially recorded at fair value
and measured subsequently at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method. Interest on loans
and advances is included in interest income and is
recognized on an effective interest rate method.

MBE makes use of derivative instruments with the
purpose to manage exposures to interest rate and
foreign currency risk. As a result the interest rate
and foreign currency risk of the hedged items are
mitigated. For the valuation of these derivatives, MBE
applies the cost price hedge accounting method. The
cost price hedge relations are evaluated on a yearly
basis for its effectiveness on all critical characteristics:
start date, maturity date, nominal amount, cash flow
schedule and interest details. The amounts to be
received and paid resulting from the foreign currency
component of the cross currency swaps being
revalued to a reporting currency equivalent are shown
on balance under ‘other assets’ in case the position
shows a positive value and under ‘other liabilities’ in
case the position shows a negative value.

An allowance for credit losses is established if there
is objective evidence that the bank will be unable
to collect all amounts due on a loan according to
the original contractual terms or the equivalent
value. The allowance is reported as a reduction of
the carrying value of a claim on the balance sheet.
Additions and reductions to the allowances for credit
losses are recorded in the profit and loss account.
3d. Debt securities
Debt securities are classified as purchased loans and
bonds. These bonds are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate method as it is still
the intention to hold the bonds until maturity. This
method uses an effective interest rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset. Gains and losses
are recognized in the income statement when the
investments are derecognized or impaired, as well as
through the amortization process.
3e. Intangible fixed assets
Software is stated at cost less accumulated
amortization and any accumulated impairment.
Amortization is charged over the estimated useful
lives, using straight-line method, over a period of
5 years. The assets’ residual values and estimated
useful lives are reviewed at the end of each annual
reporting period.
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MBE has also taken positions in derivatives with the
expectation of profiting from favorable movements in
prices and rates. These derivatives are recognized as
financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading
and are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value.
Changes in fair value of derivatives are recognized
in the result on financial operations. The credit
valuation adjustment (CVA) and the debit valuation
adjustment (DVA) are incorporated into the valuation
of the derivatives to reflect the risk of default of the
counterparty and MBE respectively. The CVA/DVA
adjustment has been recorded under the derivatives
as financial assets and financial liabilities. The net
impact thereof is an expense and amounts to €
662,000 (2018: an expense of € 131,000).
3i. Corporate income taxes
a.

Current income tax
Corporation tax is calculated on the basis of
the commercial profit, taking into account
permanent differences between fiscal and
commercial profit. The current income tax
payable (receivable) is calculated on the basis of
the applicable tax law in the applicable country
and is recognized as an expense (income) for the
period, using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

b.

Deferred income tax
The deferred tax assets (liabilities) are
determined on the basis of temporary
differences arising from differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding

3f. Tangible fixed assets
Leasehold improvements, office equipment and
other tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment. Depreciation is charged over the
estimated useful lives, using straight-line method,
over a period of 5 years. The assets’ residual values
and estimated useful lives are reviewed at the end of
each annual reporting period.

A total or partial refinancing of a troubled debt
contract, which would not have been granted
had the debtor not been in financial difficulties.
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3h. Derivatives recorded at fair value through
profit and loss
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tax basis used in the calculation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax assets are calculated
based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets are recognized
when it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which these temporary
differences can be utilized.
3j. Other assets
Other assets are measured at cost less a provision
for impairment. They comprise of the revaluation of
the derivatives recorded at cost, taxes receivable and
amounts receivable, other than prepayments and
accrued interest. The revaluation of the derivatives
recorded at cost includes derivatives such as hedge
swaps, FX and money market transactions. These
amounts are recoverable within one year. A provision
for impairment is established when there is objective
evidence that the bank will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of
the receivables.

3o. Provisions

4.

MBE has a defined benefit pension plan for which
contributions are made to a separate pension
insurance fund. The valuation of the pension plan is
in accordance with article ASC 715 compensation –
retirement benefits issued by Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB). The cost of providing
benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined
separately using the projected unit credit actuarial
valuation method. Actuarial gains and losses are
recognized as income or expense, when the net
cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses
at the end of the previous reporting year exceed
10% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation
and the fair value of plan assets at that date. These
gains or losses are recognized over the expected
average remaining working lives of the employees
participating in the plan.

4a. Recognition of income and expense

3l. Amounts owed to banks
This comprises of current accounts and deposits
taken from banks. Current accounts and overnight
deposits are due on demand.

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is
probable that economic benefits will flow to the
bank and the revenue can be reliably measured.
Expenses are recognized in the year to which they
relate. Negative interest on government bonds is
reclassified to interest expenses.
4b. Interest and similar income and expenses
For all financial instruments measured at amortized
cost and financial instruments designated at fair
value, through profit and loss, interest income and
expense are recognized on an effective interest
rate method.
4c. Commission income and expense

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises
the present value of the defined benefit obligation
less the fair value of plan assets out of which the
obligations are to be settled directly.

3k. Prepayments and accrued interest
Prepayments and accrued interest are measured at
cost. These amounts are recoverable within one year.
A provision for impairment is established when there
is objective evidence that the bank will not be able
to collect all amounts due according to the original
terms of the receivables.

Recognition of income and expenses

Commission income and expense is attributed to the
period in which it arises. It comprises of (a) Income
earned from services over a certain period in time
and (b) Income earned from transaction services.

The value of the assets is restricted to the present
value of any economic benefits available in the form
of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future
contributions to the plan.
3p. Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities consist of guarantees and
irrevocable letters of credit and acceptances. They
are included at their face value and are recorded
off-balance. The contingent liabilities commit MBE to
make payments on behalf of customers in the event
of a specific act. Guarantees and irrevocable letters
of credit carry a similar credit risk to loans.

3m. Amounts owed to customers
3q. Commitments
This comprises of current accounts and deposits
taken from customers. Current accounts and
overnight deposits are due on demand.
3n. Other liabilities
Other liabilities are recorded at their carrying value
and measured at amortized costs. The other liabilities
comprise of the revaluation of the derivatives
recorded at cost, expenses payable and other
amounts payable. The revaluation of the derivatives
recorded at cost includes derivatives such as hedge
swaps, FX and money market transactions.
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Commitments represent the undrawn part of the
committed facilities. They are included at their face
value and are recorded off-balance. Even though
these committed facilities may not be recognized on
the balance sheet, they do contain credit risk and are
therefore part of MBE’s overall risk.
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4d. Result on financial operations
The result on financial operations comprises of
foreign currency results, which are mainly a result of
foreign currency transactions on behalf of customers,
and fair value changes of the derivatives recorded
at fair value through the profit and loss.
4e. Operating expenses
Operating expenses are taken to the profit and
loss account in the period to which they relate.
Amortization and depreciation charges on tangible
and intangible fixed assets are based on cost and
are calculated by a straight-line method over the
estimated lives of the concerning assets.
Leases entered into by MBE are operating leases.
The total payments made under operating leases
are charged to staff costs and other administrative
expenses in the profit and loss account on a straight
line basis over the period of the lease.

5.6 Notes to the Balance Sheet
5.

10.

Balances with central banks

(in €’000)

7.

31/12/2019

Restricted current accounts
Unrestricted current accounts

31/12/2018

32,400

31,181

633,638

1,319,805

666,038

1,350,986

Loans and advances to customers

6.

The tangible fixed assets comprise of office equipment, computers and vehicles.
The movement in the tangible fixed assets is as follows:

The specification of the loans and advances to
customers is as follows:

(in €’000)

(in €’000)

At cost

Current accounts
Term loans

The balances with central banks comprise of
all current account balances with central banks:
restricted and non-restricted. The restricted current
accounts represent mandatory reserve deposits
with the central banks of Austria, Belgium and the
Netherlands and the collateralized account at the
Dutch Central Bank to facilitate payments.

2,786

72,733

Additions

4,397

2,263,077

2,237,192

Disposals

2,371,895

2,309,925

Balance as at 31 December

(in €’000)

Balance as at 1 January

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

100,750

92,136

Redemptions

399,641

384,562

Amortization

500,391

476,698

Balance as at 31 December

Investments
Term loans

Balance as at 1 January
Depreciation charge
Depreciation on disposals

9.

During 2019 and 2018 there were no loan losses
recorded. At the year-end there were no arrears
in loan and interest repayments. No provisions are
taken for both financial years.

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

-

102,335

152,643

-

-

(100,000)

(428)

(2,335)

152,215

-

2019

2018

2,801

2,317

1,819

516

Balance as at 1 January

31/12/2018

(21)

(32)

4,599

2,801

2,068

1,858

364

242

Accumulated amortization
Amortization

140,259

Amortization on disposals

(21)

(32)

123,946

Balance as at 31 December

2,411

2,068

Book value

2,188

733

Rest of Europe

684

927

4,353

990

Japan

73,119

74,564

Other

305

217

500,391

476,698

5,088

1,051

11.

Derivatives

The specification of the derivatives recorded at fair value through the profit and loss is as follows:
(in €’000)
Interest rate swaps
Cross currency swaps

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

39,556

37,980

1,811

5,067

(827)

(976)
42,071

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Interest rate swaps

438,434

505,627

Cross currency swaps

269,433

267,133

The specification of the fair values and the related notional amounts of the outstanding derivatives is as follows:
(in €’000)

Interest rate swaps (at cost)
Cross currency swaps (fair value)
Cross currency swaps (at cost)

(in €’000)

Interest rate swaps (fair value)
Interest rate swaps (at cost)
Cross currency swaps (fair value)
Cross currency swaps (at cost)
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395
(156)

Book value

Interest rate swaps (fair value)

276,054

North America
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(1)

1,735

(in €’000)

Additions

(in €’000)

EU (excluding the Netherlands)

1,496

360

The specification of the gross notional amounts of the derivatives is as follows:

Balance as at 1 January

The specification of the loans and advances to banks
per geographical region is as follows:

281,671

1,735

At cost

Balance as at 31 December

The Netherlands

2,786

40,540

The intangible fixed assets comprise of software.
The movement in the intangible fixed assets is
as follows:

Disposals

31/12/2019

7,182

2,094

Intangible fixed assets

(in €’000)

201
(190)

Balance as at 31 December

CVA adjustment

The loans and advances to banks comprise of
all loans and advances to banks falling under the
supervision of the government or the central banks,
which are not included in the balances with central
banks and insofar as not embodied in the form of
debt securities including fixed income securities.

(1)

Accumulated depreciation

The movement in the debt securities is as follows:
(in €’000)

2,775

Balance as at 1 January
108,818

Debt securities

The specification of the loans and advances to banks
is as follows:

2018

31/12/2018

During 2019 and 2018 there were no loan losses
recorded. At the year-end there were no arrears
in loan and interest repayments. No provisions are
taken for both financial years.

8.

2019

31/12/2019

Loans and advances to banks

Current accounts

Tangible fixed assets

Notional

amounts

>1 year

Total

< 1 year

< 5 year

438,434

1,475

231,488

205,471

39,556

50,196

-

27,196

23,000

375

269,433

269,433

-

-

1,811

62,810

33,172

29,638

-

3,671

Notional

amounts

>1 year

Total

< 1 year

< 5 year

505,627

375

280,886

224,366

37,980

17,337

-

17,337

-

844

267,133

267,133

-

-

5,067

72,127

12,396

59,731

-

3,405

> 5 year

> 5 year

31/12/2019
Fair value

31/12/2018
Fair value

The counterparty of all these transactions is Mizuho Bank Ltd., London branch; the counterparty risk is
therefore considered to be limited.

12.

Deferred taxes

The movement in the deferred tax liability is as
follows:

The deferred tax assets represent temporary
differences caused by the pension provision and
the losses carried forward by the Brussels branch.
The temporary difference of the pension provision
amounts to € 19,895,000 (2018: € 12,337,000)
multiplied by a tax rate of 25% for the amount
likely to be recovered within one year, a tax rate
of 21.7% for the amount likely to be recovered
for the other amounts. The pension provision is
calculated in accordance with the requirements of
the FASB statements, which is not recognized by
the tax authorities. The additions and releases of the
deferred tax assets are recorded under the corporate
income tax payable in the balance sheet.
The losses carried forward by the Brussels branch
represent the losses to be recovered from the
Belgian tax authorities. The calculated losses carried
forward are fully recovered and therefore amount to €
0 (2018: € 1,021,000 multiplied by a tax rate of 29%
and 25%). The additions and releases of the deferred
tax assets are recorded to the income tax in the
profit and loss account.
The movement in the deferred tax assets is as
follows:
(in €’000)

2018

2,804

3,540

(261)

(736)

Addition

1,782

-

Balance as at 31 December

4,325

2,804

Release

(in €’000)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

-

184

-

(184)

Balance as at 31 December

-

-

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

73,721

29,245

-

2,140

13.

Other assets

(in €’000)
Revaluation of derivatives recorded
at cost
Corporate income tax
Other taxes receivable

508

111

Other

741

860

74,970

32,356

The revaluation of the derivatives valued at cost
includes the revaluation of cross currency hedge
swaps and money market transactions. The other
taxes receivable include withholding tax and VAT and
other include amounts which are not attributable to
customers.

4,325

2,543

Prepayments and accrued interest

(in €’000)

Losses carried forward

-

261

4,325

2,804

The deferred tax liability represents the losses
carried forward by the Brussels branch to be paid
to the Dutch tax authorities. The calculated losses
carried forward amount to € 0 multiplied by a tax rate
of 25%. The additions and releases of the deferred
tax liability are recorded to the income tax in the
profit and loss account.

16,347

13,689

858

580

17,205

14,269

Amounts owed to banks

The specification of the amounts owed to banks is as
follows:
31/12/2019

Current accounts
Term deposits

16.

31/12/2018

54

48

1,121,506

1,314,452

1,121,560

1,314,500

Amounts owed to customers

The specification of the amounts owed to customers
is as follows:
(in €’000)

Term deposits
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31/12/2018

Prepayments

Current accounts

55

31/12/2019

Accrued interest and fees

(in €’000)
Pension provision

2018

Release

15.
The composition of the deferred tax assets is
as follows:

2019

Balance as at 1 January

14.

2019

Balance as at 1 January

(in €’000)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

839,166

883,577

1,210,885

1,462,742

2,050,051

2,346,319

17.

Derivatives

18.

Other liabilities

Benefit obligations and funded status

The specification of the derivatives recorded at fair value through the profit and loss is as follows:

The specification of the other liabilities is as follows:

(in €’000)

(in €’000)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

37,187

35,213

1,809

5,056

Interest rate swaps
Cross currency swaps

(19)

(830)

38,977

39,439

DVA adjustment

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Interest rate swaps

438,434

505,627

Cross currency swaps

269,433

272,009

31/12/2018

Revaluation of derivatives valued
at cost

80,750

29,160

Interest and commission payable

12,751

9,989

9,617

6,345

Expenses payable

The specification of the gross notional amounts of the derivatives is as follows:
(in €’000)

31/12/2019

Unsettled payments

104

44

Other taxes payable

2,542

1,017

39

59

105,803

46,614

Other

19.

(in €’000)
Notional

amounts

>1 year

Total

< 1 year

< 5 year

Interest rate swaps (fair value)

438,434

1,475

231,488

205,471

37,187

Interest rate swaps (at cost)

200,484

35,698

152,169

12,617

1,073

Cross currency swaps (fair value)

269,433

269,433

-

-

1,809

Cross currency swaps (at cost)

100,319

47,038

53,281

-

1,905

31/12/2019

Notional

amounts

>1 year

Total

< 1 year

< 5 year

> 5 year

Fair value

31/12/2018
Fair value

Interest rate swaps (fair value)

505,627

375

280,886

224,366

35,213

Interest rate swaps (at cost)

386,554

250,532

126,472

9,550

590

Cross currency swaps (fair value)

272,009

272,009

-

-

5,056

83,102

31,850

51,252

-

3,469

Cross currency swaps (at cost)

31/12/2018

31/12/2019
ASC 715 pension liabilities

The counterparty of all these transactions is Mizuho Bank Ltd., London branch; the counterparty risk is
therefore considered to be limited.

19,895

12,337

-

-

19,895

12,337

MBE has entered into a defined benefit pension
scheme and reports a provision for pension liabilities
in accordance with ASC 715.

39,431

Service cost

1,647

1,774

Interest cost

779

729

12,830

(1,367)

-

(324)

Plan amendment

Net periodic pension cost
(in €’000)

Balance as at 31 December
(in €’000)

Balance as at 1 January
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions

(in €’000)

1,647

2018
1,774

779

729

(526)

(442)

Amortization of net (gain)/loss

115

258

Prior service cost

(11)

10

Total net periodic pension costs

2,004

2,329

Weighted average assumptions
at year-end:

2019

2018

Discount rate

0.93%

1.95%

Expected return on plan assets

0.79%

1.51%

Rate of compensation increase

1.80%

1.80%

Return on plan assets

57
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(175)

55,117

40,068

2019

2018

27,731

26,643

6,806

926

892

337

(207)

(175)

35,222

27,731

2019

2018

35,222

27,731

ASC 715 Funded status at 31 December:
2019

Plan assets
Current liabilities

Interest cost

(207)

Fair value of plan assets:

Balance as at 31 December

The actuarial valuation is based on assumptions. The
assumptions are being reviewed by and discussed
between the Management Board and the actuary,
who is making the actuarial valuation, on a yearly basis.

Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.

40,068

Accumulated benefit obligation,
at 1 January

Benefits paid

The information presented below is prepared
in accordance with our understanding of the
requirements of the following FASB statements:
ASC 715 Compensation – retirement benefits.

Service cost

56

2018

Benefits paid
Early retirement fund

(in €’000)

2019

Actuarial (gain)/loss

The specification of the fair values and the related notional amounts of the derivatives is as follows:
> 5 year

(in €’000)

Change in projected benefit obligation:

Provisions

The specification of the provisions is as follows:

(in €’000)

The disclosure shown below provides information
on the projected benefit obligation, the plan assets
and the amounts to be included in the accounts
of MBE as of 31 December 2019. The defined
benefit pension scheme is executed by an insurance
company. As such, no significant risks remain with
MBE with regard to the pension benefits. The assets
are 100% insurance contracts.

(236)

(207)

Non-current liabilities

(54,881)

(39,861)

Total asset/(liability)

(19,895)

(12,337)

Reconciliation of ASC 715 liability for pension
benefits

The specification of the subordinated loan is as
follows:

The table below details how the liability for pension
benefits (amount recognized in the annual report) at
the end of the prior fiscal year is adjusted forward
one year by the pension expense, the contributions
during the fiscal year and the change in the
accumulated other comprehensive income.

(in €’000)

(in €’000)

Share capital

2019

2018

(12,337)

(12,788)

892

337

Net periodic pension cost in year

(2,004)

(2,329)

Actuarial gain/(loss) in year (PBO)

(12,830)

1,367

Actuarial gain/(loss) in year (FVA)

6,280

484

-

324

115

258

Balance as at 1 January
Contributions in year

Plan amendment
Amortization of actuarial gains/loss

(11)

10

Total

(6,446)

2,443

Total pension costs

(7,558)

451

(19,895)

(12,337)

Prior service cost

Loans – longer than 5 years

31/12/2018

2,870

-

2,870

-

21.

Shareholder’s equity

In 2017 MBE issued 1,111,111 shares at nominal value
of € 45.00 each. This was fully paid up by MHBK, of
which MBE is the 100% subsidiary.
(in €’000)
Balance as at 1 January
Capital increase

2019

2018

191,794

191,794

-

-

191,794

191,794

(in €’000)

Total risk weighted amount

2019

20.

(in €’000)

2019

2018

Balance as at 1 January

4,342

4,342

Balance as at 31 December

4,342

4,342

Other reserves
The movement in the other reserves is as follows:
(in €’000)
Balance as at 1 January
Appropriation result for the year
Balance as at 31 December

2019

2018

253,229

236,563

21,380

16,666

274,609

253,229

Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.

31/12/2018

2,731,082

2,627,839

16,666

Own funds

472,140

449,430

(16,666)

Tier 1 capital

469,270

449,430

Result for the year

24,015

21,380

Tier 2 capital

2,870

-

Balance as at 31 December

24,015

21,380

Core Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) Ratio

17.29%

17.10%

26.

Contingent liabilities

Derecognized assets/liabilities information

The specification of the contingent liabilities is
as follows:

The specification of the drawn part of the fully
derecognized facilities is as follows:

(in €’000)

(in €’000)

Guarantees
Irrevocable letters of credit and
acceptances

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

734,558

717,966

3,997

13,472

738,555

731,438

The contingent liabilities include all liabilities arising
from transactions in which the bank has guaranteed
the commitments of third parties.

Commitments
31/12/2019

31/12/2018

726,231

730,440

726,231

730,440

The commitments concern the total amount of
commitments in respect of undrawn irrevocable
facilities that may give rise to a credit risk.

24.

Rental commitments

MBE has entered into rental agreements for office
premises amounting to € 4,652,000 (2018: €
2,148,000) of which € 1,228,000 (2018: € 722,000)
is payable within 1 year. MBE has also entered into
other agreements, such as rental agreements for
houses for expats, amounting to € 1,194,000 (2018: €
1,290,000), of which € 326,000 (2018: € 441,000) is
payable within 1 year. All other amounts are payable
between 1 and 5 years.
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31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Assets

3,584,941

3,187,989

Liabilities

(3,584,941)

(3,187,989)

-

-

9,940

10,311

Net position
Net result

Early repayment is callable after 5 years and
subject to regulatory approval. The loan is wholly
subordinated to claims of all non-subordinated
creditors and shall therefore rank in right and priority
of payment after all subordinated claims from
MBE’s creditors.
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31/12/2019

21,380

Commitments

The movement in the share premium is as follows:

2018

Capital adequacy

(21,380)

Balance as at 1 January

(in €’000)

The reserve contains the amount of rounding
difference regarding the redenomination of the
shares from NLG to EUR in 2002.
Share premium

On 22 March 2019 MBE entered into an
uncommitted subordinated term loan facility with its
parent company, Mizuho Bank Ltd. The drawdown
period ranges from the facility start date up to 22
March 2020, whereby the final maturity date is
10 years after each drawdown date. The loan is
denominated in Japanese Yen. The interest is 3
months libor plus 60 basis points.

(in €’000)

23.

The unrecognized prior service cost in AOCI has
increased from € 40,127 as at 1 January 2019 to
an unrecognized prior service credit of € 29,244.
The unrecognized losses in AOCI decreased from €
5,631,757 as at 1 January 2019 to € 12,066,422 as at
31 December 2019.

Sub-ordinated loan

The movement in the result for the year is as follows:

22.

The authorized share capital amounts to € 192,500
of which € 191,794 is issued and paid up. All shares
have a nominal value of € 45.00 each. In 2002 the
nominal value was changed from NLG to EUR. A
legal reserve was formed for the difference (€ 939).

Legal reserve
There was one special event in 2019. New joiners
as from 1 January 2019 are offered a defined
contribution plan. Therefore they are not part of the
ASC715 pension provision.

25.

Transfer to Other reserves

Balance as at 31 December
Balance as at 31 December

31/12/2019

Result for the year

The derecognized assets and liabilities have a zero
solvency weighting and comprise of transactions,
fully covered by Mizuho Bank Ltd., acting through its
London branch, a 100% shareholder of Mizuho Bank
Europe N.V.
The undrawn part of the facilities is also fully covered
by Mizuho Bank Ltd.

5.7
27.

 otes to the Profit and
N
Loss Account

29.

The specification of commission income is as
follows:

Interest and similar income

(in €’000)

The specification of interest and similar income is
as follows:
(in €’000)

2019

2018

Loans

84,348

66,653

Swaps

26,661

26,360

Commitment fees

13,691

12,568

Banks
Others

4,715

3,439

16,685

13,856

146,100

122,876

The interest and similar income includes income
arising from the lending of funds and related
transactions as well as commissions and other
income that have the character of interest. The other
interest income mainly relates to money market
transactions (€ 15,765,000, in 2018 € 12,704,000)
and increased due to business opportunities in
currencies.
The average interest return is calculated at 0.138%
(2018: 0.147%). The average interest is calculated per
income category, taking the overall weighting into
account.

28.

Interest expense and similar charges

(in €’000)

2019

2018

Swaps

26,313

25,757

Banks

43,722

28,485

Commitment fees

8,980

8,354

Central banks

3,399

3,727

18,608

17,762

Others

10,204

10,191

111,226

94,276

The interest expense and similar charges include costs
arising from borrowing of funds and related transactions
as well as other charges that have the character of
interest. The other interest expenses mainly relate to
guarantee expenses and utilization fees.
The average funding cost is calculated at 0.078%
(2018: 0.063%). The average interest is calculated
per expense category, taking the overall weighting
into account.
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2019

2018

Transaction services

16,565

7,438

Services over a certain period

12,665

12,922

29,230

20,360

The commission income comprises income from
fees received in respect of banking services supplied
to third parties insofar as these do not have the
character of interest.

30.

Commission expense

(in €’000)
Commission expense

2019

2018

495

447

495

447

The commission expense concerns expenses paid in
respect of fees for banking services supplied by third
parties insofar as these do not have the character of
interest.

31.

Result on financial operations

(in €’000)

2019

2018

Foreign currency results

6,762

6,196

Results derivatives

The specification of interest expense and similar
charges is as follows:

Deposits and current accounts

Commission income

(890)

(871)

5,872

5,325

The result on financial operations comprises of
foreign currency results, which are mainly a result of
foreign currency transactions on behalf of customers,
and fair value changes of the derivatives recorded at
fair value through the profit and loss.

32.

Staff costs and other administrative expenses

33.

The specification of the staff costs and other
administrative expenses is as follows:
(in €’000)

Income tax

The specification of the income tax is as follows:
(in €’000)

2019

2018

Staff costs

20,422

11,850

Other administrative expenses

15,976

12,304

Tax calculated at nominal tax rate

36,398

24,154

Tax losses carried forward

Operation result before taxation

Rate changes
Tax on non-deductible expenses

The specification of the staff costs is as follows:
(in €’000)

Rounding

2019

2018

10,363

9,767

Pension and early retirement costs

8,901

952

Social security charges

1,084

1,005

74

126

20,422

11,850

Wages and salaries

Other social costs

The specification of the pension and early retirement
costs is as follows:
(in €’000)

2019

2018

Contributions to the pension
insurance fund

1,343

1,403

Addition to ASC 715 pension
liabilities

7,558

-

-

(451)

8,901

952

Release from ASC 715 pension
liabilities

The average number of employees in full time
equivalents (FTE) in 2019 for Amsterdam, Brussels,
Vienna and Madrid was 89.7 (2018: 90.8):

Amsterdam

2019

2018

75.1

75.2

Brussel

4.2

5.1

Vienna

6.1

6.3

Madrid

34.

4.3

4.2

89.7

90.8

2019

2018

32,359

29,047

8,215

7,313

86

(169)

-

541

32
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Country by country disclosures

MBE has offices in four countries. The main office is at Apollolaan 171, 1077 AS in Amsterdam. There is a
branch office at Avenue Louise 480, 1050 in Brussels (Belgium), a branch office at DC Tower, Donau-City
Strasse 7, 1220 in Vienna (Austria) and at Calle Orense 34, Planta 8, Edificio Iberia Mart II, 28020 in Madrid
(Spain). MBE did not receive any public subsidies for any of the offices.
The difference between the total income on a consolidated level and the total income of the offices combined
is caused by the SLA charges from the Amsterdam office to its branches.
The specification of the key financials for the offices is as follows:

-

(10)

2019

2019

2019

2019

11

(19)

Amsterdam

Brussels

Vienna

Madrid

8,344

7,667
Total income

58,063

4,080

8,740

3,011

This item concerns all tax charges attributable to
the financial year in respect of the income stated in
the profit and loss account. The nominal tax rate is
deemed to be equal to the actual effect on the profit
of the year. The total amount of tax paid in 2019 is €
8,233,000 (in 2018: € 8,336,000).

Operation result before taxation

25,146

969

4,394

1,850

Income tax

(6,554)

(115)

(1,112)

(563)

Net result

18,592

854

3,282

1,287

The effective tax rate on a consolidated level is
25.8% (in 2018: 26.4%). The tax losses carried
forward represent the release of the deferred tax
asset, created in the Netherlands for cumulative tax
losses from the Belgian branch before 2012, partially
offset by the compensation of tax losses carried
forward in Belgium.

Tax adjustments previous years

2018

2018

2018

2018

Amsterdam

Brussels

Vienna

Madrid

Total income

45,122

3,654

7,284

1,099

Operation result before taxation

24,302

816

3,668

261

Income tax

(6,670)

-

(919)

(78)

Net result

17,632

816

2,749

183

The effective tax rate for MBE’s Amsterdam office
is 26.1% (in 2018: 27.4%). The nominal tax rate in
the Netherlands is 19% for the first € 200,000 and
for the remainder 25% (in 2018: 20% for the first €
200,000 and for the remainder 25%). The difference
in 2019 between the nominal and effective tax rate
is mainly caused by tax losses carried forward from
the branches in Belgium caused a decrease of the
deferred tax asset.
The effective tax rate for MBE’s Brussels branch is
11.9% (in 2018: 0%). The nominal tax rate in Belgium
is 29.58% (in 2018: 29.58%). The difference in 2019
between the nominal and effective tax rate is mainly
caused by tax losses carried forward.
The effective tax rate for MBE’s Vienna branch is
25.3% (in 2018: 25.1%). The nominal tax rate in
Austria is 25% (in 2018: 25%). The difference in 2019
between the nominal and effective tax rate is caused
by the non-deductible expenses.
The effective tax rate for MBE’s Madrid branch
is 30.4% (in 2018: 30%). The nominal tax rate in
Spain is 30% (in 2018: 30%). The difference in 2019
between the nominal and effective tax rate is caused
by the non-deductible expenses.
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35.

Related party disclosures

36.

Remuneration of Management Board and Supervisory Board members

All related party transactions are executed at arm’s length. MBE has outsourced the core banking applications
and back office activities to Mizuho Bank Ltd. London branch. The expenses incurred from the head office in
Tokyo as well as by the London branch for software and as for SLA charges amounted in 2019 to € 4,338,000
(2018: € 3,183,000).

The remuneration of the Management Board in 2019 amounted to € 888,000 (2018: € 872,000). The
remuneration for the independent Supervisory Board members amounted to € 100,000 (2018: € 100,000).

Regarding the total credit exposures, the parent bank has provided MBE hedges, guarantees and other risk
mitigating services to an amount of € 13,176,334,000 (2018: € 13,742,635,000).

The following audit firm fees (excluding VAT) were expenses in the profit and loss account in the reporting
period. The specification is as follows:

37.

Remuneration of the external auditors

The specification of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses with related parties is as follows:
(in €’000)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Mizuho Bank Ltd.

133,181

106,214

A.O. Mizuho Bank

-

43

133,181

106,257

Receivables from (included in the loans and advances to banks):

Payables to Mizuho Bank Ltd. (included in the amounts owed to banks)

Deloitte NL

Deloitte
Other

EY

Total

Deloitte NL

Deloitte
Other

EY

Total

2019

2019

2019

2019

2018

2018

2018

2018

158

-

63

221

152

-

52

204

-

56

-

56

-

56

-

56

125

-

-

125

23

-

-

23

10

-

-

10

10

-

-

10

293

56

63

412

185

56

52

293

(in €’000)
Audit in the Netherlands

1,115,528

Audit related services
Other services

1,049,500

-

5,065

1,115,528

1,054,565

Mizuho Securities

Audit in other countries

The notional amounts of the derivatives with Mizuho Bank Ltd.
(included in the derivatives recorded at cost and recorded at fair value):
Interest rate swaps (assets)

65,196

22,062

Cross currency swaps (assets)

70,555

329,992

The fees listed above relate to the fees charged to MBE by the audit firm (and affiliated firms) responsible for
auditing the annual report. The disclosed fees are based on the audit of the annual report over the financial
year it relates to, even though a significant part of the audit activities are being performed after the year end.
These fees do not include services rendered by internal auditors or by other audit firms.

Interest and commission income related to:
Banks
Swaps
Other

54

240

12,995

13,829

45

4

13,094

14,073

Interest and other expenses related to:
Banks

42,396

28,818

Swaps

13,222

15,240

Fees

11,735

8,244

Commissions
Pledges
Other

197

106

10,175

5,609

-

7,233

77,725

65,250

For the derecognized loans pledged by Mizuho Bank Ltd., we refer to note 26.
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5.8 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

5.9 Risk Management

38.

5.9.1 Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents

The specification of the cash and cash equivalents is as follows:
(in €’000)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Balances with central banks (Note 5)

666,038

1,350,986

Loans and advances to banks, on demand (Note 6)

100,750

92,136

Amounts owed to banks, on demand (Note 15)

(54)
766,734

(48)
1,443,074

The purpose of this information is to give users of the financial statements insight in the fair value of the
financial instruments. Fair value is defined as the amount for which a financial instrument could be exchanged
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. As far as possible, the fair value is
based on market prices. In those situations where a market price is not available, the fair value is estimated
using models that discount future cash flows. Related items are marked (*). The valuation methods for those
instruments for which the market value differs from the carrying amounts are explained in more detail below.
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are net of charges for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances
represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash
flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.
Debt securities
The aggregate fair values are calculated based on quoted market prices, where possible. For those notes of
which quoted market prices are not available, a discounted cash flow model is used based on a current yield
curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity.
Funds entrusted
As the funds entrusted represent short-term deposits and as interest rates are low, the fair value
approximated at the carrying value.
Carrying
amount

31/12/2019
Fair value

Carrying
amount

31/12/2018
Fair value

Balances with central banks

666,038

666,038

1,350,986

1,350,986

Banks

500,391

501,740

476,698

476,698

2,371,895

2,386,030

2,309,925

2,215,751

(in €’000)
Assets

Loans and advances to customers
Debt securities

Swaps hedge
Interest rate swaps
Cross currency swaps

152,215

152,079

-

-

3,690,539

3,705,887

4,137,609

4,043,435

-

4,046

-

4,249

39,556

39,556

37,980

37,980

1,811

1,811

5,067

5,067

3,731,906

3,751,300

4,180,656

4,090,731

Liabilities
Banks

1,121,560

1,122,367

1,314,500

1,314,500

Funds entrusted

2,050,051

2,053,469

2,346,319

2,346,319

3,171,611

3,175,836

3,660,819

3,660,819

Swaps hedge
Interest rate swaps
Cross currency swaps
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-

2,978

-

4,059

37,187

37,187

35,213

35,213

1,809

1,809

5,056

5,056

3,210,607

3,217,810

3,701,088

3,705,147

5.9.2 Risk Policies

5.9.5 Credit Risk

MBE’s approach to risk management matches its low complexity. Our Risk Management Framework
(RMF) aims to limit the impact of unexpected events on our solvency, liquidity, and business & operational
performance to the greatest possible extent.

Of the Basel Pillar 1 risks, credit risk constitutes MBE's most significant risk (category). Credit risk is defined
as the risk that a counterparty cannot fulfill its obligations to the bank. MBE calculates credit risk for its capital
requirements in accordance with the Standardized Approach (SA).

We consciously strive for a low-risk profile by having strategies as well as systems and procedures in
place for the identification and mitigation of risks. Making clear choices and adequately embedding risk
management at all organizational levels are important in this respect.

MBE's policy on credit risk revolves primarily around the counterparty risks associated with lending to
corporate clients. Strict selection criteria for new clients and active credit management for existing clients
safeguard our quality of the loan portfolio.

Overall, compliance with the Wet op het financieel toezicht (Wft) is an integral component of risk
management within MBE. The Wft describes requirements to mitigate financial risks, such as credit risk,
interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, and liquidity risk but also for non-financial risks such as operational
risk, IT risk, strategic risk, legal and integrity risk, and reputational risk.

Credit risk on positions with governments and financial institutions arises from the investment activities,
international payment transactions, and cash management.

Based on the consolidated reporting of Mizuho Bank Ltd. in Japan, MBE is exempt from the DNB’s Pillar
3 public disclosure requirements. However, MBE will provide a Pillar 3 risk profile disclosure to interested
parties at their request.

5.9.3 Risk Appetite
Risk appetite is the core of MBE’s risk governance framework. Risk appetite is the aggregate level and types
of risk the bank is willing to assume within its risk capacity, in order to achieve its business strategy and
financial strategy. The risk appetite is set in the Risk Appetite Framework and Statement document, which is
approved by the Management Board and Supervisory Board of MBE.
We express our risk appetite through the Risk Appetite Policy and Risk Appetite Metrics. The Risk Appetite
Policy is a qualitative statement articulating the fundamental policy on management, business, financial and
risk-taking strategy. Taking into account MBE’s Risk Appetite Policy, the Risk Appetite Metrics define the level
or risk that our Management is willing to assume. The Risk Appetite Metrics are set for credit risk, capital
strength, liquidity risk, profitability, interest rate risk, operational risk, and reputation risk.
In establishing the Risk Appetite Framework, MBE has also adopted Behavioral Guidelines for a Sound
Risk Culture, which was established by MHFG to heighten senior management's and employees' risk
sensitivity and improve their responses and countermeasures in the event of risks. These guidelines provide
the foundation for appropriate values and courses of action that should be employed by Mizuho's senior
management and employees when approaching risks. We have embedded these guidelines in the foundation
of our risk appetite framework.

We perform on-going credit evaluations of our customers' financial conditions, both at the MHBK group
level and in the local operations. Consequently, MBE’s parent is to a large extent involved in monitoring
the creditworthiness of customers. The frequency of these reviews may differ depending on the individual
borrower's risk profile, but takes place at least once a year.
At the portfolio level, the relevant developments are discussed on a monthly basis at the Portfolio
Management Committee. Any negative trend identified in the risk profile with respect to a particular client
(segment), a particular sector, or type of loan can lead to the adjustment of MBE’s applicable lending policy.
The maximum credit risk for the balances with central banks, loans and advances to banks, and loans and
advances to customers also include the accrued interest. For loans and advances to banks, the maximum
credit risk amount includes the credit risk mitigation related exposures. The credit exposure for the
derecognized assets is valued at nil.

Maximum
credit risk

(in €’000)

670,741

10,813

1,355,979

7,010

501,271

434,758

477,849

455,096
1,555,367

Loans and advances to customers

2,380,723

1,586,701

2,319,029

Debt securities

152,215

-

-

-

Contingent liabilities

738,555

140,863

722,080

78,663

726,231

336,069

736,349

323,585

5,169,736

2,509,204

5,611,286

2,419,721

76,873

74,249

101,145

65,986

4,505

4,505

21,488

12,434

Interest rate swaps

43,757

22,932

48,846

25,315

Netting contracts

21,796

10,898

-

-

146,931

112,584

171,479

103,735

5,316,667

2,621,788

5,782,765

2,523,456

Commitments

We base the structure of our RMF on the three lines of defense principle. Assigned to the first line are
the commercial and operational departments and concerns day-to-day responsibility for risk control.
Risk Management, Compliance, and Finance & Control comprise the second line and are responsible for
initiating risk policies and supervision of risk control. Internal Audit forms the third line and is responsible for
performing independent audits on the RMF.

Foreign currency contracts
Cross currency swaps

Total

The Management Board, together with the Supervisory Board, bears the ultimate responsibility for MBE’s
RMF. The Management Board and Supervisory Board review and approve this framework annually.

Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.

31/12/2018
Risk weighted
amount

Loans and advances to banks

Derivatives

68

Maximum
credit risk

Governments and Central banks

5.9.4 Risk Organization

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board supervise the risks and capital adequacy requirements in
relation to MBE's operations. For this purpose, two committees are in place. The quarterly Risk Committee
assesses all risks identified relating to MBE's business activities. Secondly, the Risk Committee of the
Supervisory Board is in place to advise the Supervisory Board on financial reporting, liquidity risk, capital
management, internal and external audits, as well as on compliance matters and duty of care.

31/12/2019
Risk weighted
amount
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5.9.6 Concentration Risk
Asset concentrations are reported per sector and per geographical region for the balances with central
banks, loans and advances to banks, loans and advances to customers, debt securities, contingent liabilities
and commitments.
The largest credit concentration by industry sector was sovereign and supranational, which amounted to €
822,957,000 or 16% of the credit portfolio, followed by machinery & precision machinery of € 471,201,000
(9%) and banks and other financials of € 443,338,000 (9%). This compares with the largest sector
concentration of sovereign and supranational of € 1,355,979 (24%) followed by machinery & precision
machinery of €476,206,000 (8%) and banks and other financials of € 442,291,000 (8%) and Automotives of €
415,091,000 (7%) last year.
The largest sector of credit concentration remained the same from the previous year due to large placing at
the DNB account together with holdings of the Netherlands government bonds for liquidity purposes. MBE
sets guideline levels for maximum concentrations in individual sectors and monitors this in the Portfolio
Management Committee on a monthly basis.
(in €’000)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

Sovereign & Supranational

822,957

1,355,979

Machinery & Precision Machinery

471,201

476,206

Banks & Other Financials

443,338

442,291

Automotives

383,483

415,091

Utilities

347,537

377,603

Leasing

384,972

336,614

Food & Drinks

273,338

296,433

Chemicals

209,851

280,355

Electrical Equipments

296,378

227,938

Rail & Road Transport

230,396

192,835

Other Materials

252,202

187,842

Professional & Business Services

175,426

183,674

Energy

135,791

170,043

Telecommunications

147,437

142,235

Steel & Metals

102,314

81,959

Trading & Wholesale

89,944

78,856

Consumer Products & Services

10,961

76,261

Home Electronics

91,016

63,916

Tranport Equipments

77,724

61,903

Construction

77,513

47,409

Consumer Finance

30,067

44,123

Other Manufacturing

37,832

41,617

Medical Equipment

23,058

11,575

Textiles

10,000

10,001

Pharmaceutical

43,580

7,378

1,393

1,074

18

74

Information Services

9

1

Real Estate

-

-

5,169,736

5,611,286

Healthcare
Marine Transport
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In accordance with MBE’s strategy, the majority
of our credit risk is found in the Benelux, Iberian,
and Central and Eastern European regions. The
geographical breakdown is based on client locations.
The specification of the credit exposure per
geographical region is as follows:
(in €’000)

31/12/2019

31/12/2018

The Netherlands

1,901,767

2,533,374

EU (excluding the Netherlands)

2,666,195

2,500,464

Rest of Europe

203,170

283,320

North America

137,278

102,421

Japan

156,805

101,235

Other

104,521

90,427

-

45

5,169,736

5,611,286

Russian Federation

5.9.7 Investments
MBE held no investments as per year-end 2019.

5.9.8 Operational Risk
MBE is exposed to certain types of operational
risk. Operational risk is possible losses as a result
of inadequate or defective internal processes and
systems, insufficient or incorrect human actions, or
external events and fraud. MBE calculates a solvency
requirement for operational risk based on the Basic
Indicator Approach (BIA) method.
MBE's policy on operational risk focuses on
evaluating, monitoring and managing operational risk,
including risks surrounding information security and
business continuity.
To protect MBE against significant financial losses,
we have taken out insurance policies offering
coverage against claims and losses by virtue of its
services. In summary, this concerns combined fraud
and professional liability insurance, directors' and
officers' liability insurance and various other liability
insurance and accident insurance policies.

Under Pillar 1 of Basel rules, MBE is exempt from
calculating market risk capital requirements since its
gross long positions and the sum of its gross short
positions in all foreign currencies, do not exceed
100% of eligible capital and its overall net open
position does not exceed 2% of its eligible capital.
MBE's policy on market risk is not to be exposed to
material open positions in interest rate and foreign
currency risks. In principle, we either match our
lending and borrowing on an individual basis or enter
into derivatives to hedge the interest rate and foreign
currency risk on a one-by-one basis.

The notes to the financial statements include
(remaining) contractual maturity calendars for most
financial instruments. A large number of financial
instruments carry a variable rate of interest.
Therefore, the period between 31 December 2019
(or 31 December 2018) and the first interest reset
date following such date, when interest conditions
will reset to market conditions, is assessed to
understand the interest rate risk inherent in these
financial instruments.
Furthermore, MBE enters into interest rate derivative
contracts to adjust the interest rate mismatch
inherent in the on-balance financial instruments to
the desired bandwidths.
In addition to interest rate risk in the banking book,
changes in discount rate following the interest
market impact MBE’s defined benefit obligation.
Stress testing is performed for interest rate risk in
the banking book. Stress losses are calculated by
both parallel and non-parallel shifts in the yield curve:
•

A 200 bp sudden downward rate shock would
result in a negative impact on market value
of equity of € 10,760 thousand (2018: € 534
thousand)

•

5.9.9 Market Risk

•

The impact of a gradual downward rate
movement by a 200 bp is assessed at € 6,572
thousand (2018: € 8,321 thousand) negative
impact on net income

•

A gradual upward rate movement by a 200 bp
would result in a positive impact on the net income
of € 8,192 thousand (2018: € 2,934 thousand).
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The following table provides a maturity calendar of interest-bearing financial instruments, including interest
rate derivatives, by interest reset date as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 respectively:
(in €’000)

31/12/2019
Variable

A 200 bp sudden upward rate shock would
result in a positive impact on market value
of equity of € 2,748 thousand (2018: € 500
thousand)

<= 3M

<= 1YR

<= 5 YR

=> 5 YR

Total

666,038

Assets
Balances with central banks

666,038

-

-

-

-

Loans and advances to banks

155,716

197,554

-

147,121

-

500,391

39,022

845,277

364,444

728,253

394,899

2,371,895

Loans and advances to customers
Debt securities

5.9.10 Interest Rate Risk

Key instruments to manage MBE’s operational risk
are risk self-assessments, customer complaint
procedures, security assessments, error tracking,
control framework and an incident database.

Market risk constitutes MBE's least significant risk.
Market risk is the risk of loss as a result of changes
in market variables, including objective variables
such as interest rates, exchange rates, and share
prices. Furthermore, some variables are not directly
observable, such as volatility and correlations.

The change of valuation is a result of new EBA guidelines on the management of interest rate risk arising
from non-trading book activities (EBA/GL/2018/02).

-

-

-

152,215

-

152,215

860,776

1,042,831

364,444

1,027,589

394,899

3,690,539

Liabilities
Banks
Funds entrusted

(54)

(448,968)

(839,166)

(1,125,040)

(85,845)

-

(672,538)

(839,220)

(1,574,008)

(85,845)

(672,538)

(38,657)

(77,250)

(262,284)

(35,617)

(413,808)

(38,657)

(77,250)

(262,284)

(35,617)

(413,808)

-

-

(1,121,560)

-

(2,050,051)

-

(3,171,611)

Derivatives
Swaps

Net interest position

21,556

(569,834)

201,349

92,767

359,282

<= 1YR

<= 5 YR

=> 5 YR

Total

1,350,986

(in €’000)

105,120

31/12/2018
Variable

<= 3M

Assets
Balances with central banks
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Debt securities

1,350,986

-

-

-

-

121,830

209,826

42

145,000

-

476,698

43,271

862,249

314,807

521,662

567,936

2,309,925

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,516,087

1,072,075

314,849

666,662

567,936

4,137,609

Liabilities
Banks
Funds entrusted

(48)

(471,439)

(883,577)

(1,077,733)

(385,009)

-

(843,013)

(883,625)

(1,549,172)

(385,009)

(843,013)

(5,315)

(289,463)

(254,793)

(9,550)

(559,121)

(5,315)

(289,463)

(254,793)

(9,550)

(559,121)

(482,412)

(359,623)

(431,144)

-

-

(1,314,500)

-

(2,346,319)

-

(3,660,819)

Derivatives
Swaps

Net interest position
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632,462

558,386

(82,331)

5.9.11 Foreign Currency Risk

The following table indicates the remaining maturity (first roll-over/repricing date or redemption date) of
financial instruments as of 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 respectively:

MBE's financial position and cash flows are affected by exchange rate fluctuations to a limited extent. Most of
the positions in the statement of financial position and transactions are denominated in euros. MBE ensures
that the exchange rate risk is managed effectively within the limits set. The foreign exchange positions are
listed in the table below.
31/12/2019

(in €’000)
Debit
USD

3,311,228

Credit
4,140,185

Open position
Net
(828,957)

Derivatives

(absolute)

828,981

31/12/2019
On
demand

201,171

42,575

(42,610)

35

374,691

180,985

193,706

(193,692)

(14)

774,061

559,344

214,717

(214,297)

(420)

4,703,726

5,081,685

(377,959)

378,382

(423)

USD

Open position

Debit

Credit

Net

Derivatives

(absolute)

=> 5 YR

Total

666,038

666,038

-

-

-

-

155,716

197,554

-

147,121

-

500,391

39,022

845,277

364,444

728,253

394,899

2,371,895

-

-

-

152,215

-

152,215

860,776

1042,831

364,444

1,027,589

394,899

3,690,539

Liabilities
Banks

31/12/2018

(in €’000)

<= 5 YR

Loans and advances to banks
Debt securities

243,746

<= 1YR

Balances with central banks
Loans and advances to customers

GBP

<= 3M

Assets

(24)

JPY
Other

(in €’000)

Funds entrusted

(54)

(448,968)

(839,166)

(1,125,040)

(85,845)

-

(839,220)

(1,574,008)

(85,845)

(672,538)

-

(1,121,560)

-

(2,050,051)

(672,538)

-

(3,171,611)

-

Derivatives

3,177,319

3,988,969

(811,650)

811,838

188

JPY

227,604

178,145

49,459

(49,468)

(9)

Swaps

-

564,338

50,188

81,522

-

696,048

GBP

293,954

158,940

135,014

(135,020)

(6)

Inflows

-

(564,139)

(51,074)

(82,357)

-

(697,570)

Other

615,321

451,909

163,412

(163,102)

310

4,314,198

4,777,963

(463,765)

464,248

483

Outflows
FX

5.9.12 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an organization may not be able to fund increases in assets or meet obligations as
they fall due, unless at an unreasonable cost. Therefore, liquidity risk is the risk that the bank will be unable to
meet its payment obligations when it falls due under normal and stress circumstances.
MBE's liquidity policy can be best described as being conservative. The Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment
Process (ILAAP), which is reported to the DNB every year, combines the policy with the more quantitative
aspects of liquidity risk. The objective of MBE's liquidity risk management is thus to ensure the availability of
sufficient cash flows to meet all financial commitments. Customer deposits and interbank funding (which is to a
large extent from the parent) are the primary sources of liquidity for our operations.
A conservative liquidity buffer is held to absorb severe stress circumstances of in and outflows of liquidity. Stress
scenarios take into account idiosyncratic, market, and market and idiosyncratic stresses. There is a continuous
evaluation of the adequacy of this liquidity buffer, as well as on the available liquidity contingency measures.

Inflows

-

1,193,272

488,735

1,173,658

-

2,855,665

Outflows

-

(1,193,272)

(488,735)

(1,173,658)

-

(2,855,665)

21,556

(530,978)

277,713

354,216

394,899

517,406

Net position
(in €’000)

31/12/2018
On
demand

<= 3M

<= 1YR

<= 5 YR

=> 5 YR

Total

1,350,986

Assets
Balances with central banks
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Debt securities

1,350,986

-

-

-

-

121,830

209,826

42

145,000

-

476,698

43,271

862,249

314,807

521,662

567,936

2,309,925

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,516,087

1,072,075

314,849

666,662

567,936

4,137,609

Liabilities
Banks
Funds entrusted

(48)

(471,439)

(883,577)

(1,077,733)

(385,009)

-

(883,625)

(1,549,172)

(385,009)

(843,013)
(843,013)

-

(1,314,500)

-

(2,346,319)

-

(3,660,819)

Derivatives
Swaps
Inflows

-

5,115

578,273

96,963

14,020

694,371

Outflows

-

(4,858)

(577,377)

(98,282)

(14,331)

(694,848)

FX
Inflows

-

967,620

472,688

1,227,669

-

2,667,977

Outflows

-

(967,620)

(472,688)

(1,227,669)

-

(2,667,977)

632,462

(476,840)

(69,264)

(177,670)

567,625

476,313

Net position
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5.9.13 Compliance and Legal Risk
Legal risk arises from uncertainties about the legal enforceability of the obligations of the bank’s customers
and counterparties (including those with respect to derivatives), as well as the possibility that legal or
regulatory changes may adversely affect the bank’s position. MBE employs one legal counsel, five
compliance officers and one information security officer who are trained in timely observing, addressing and
repressing legal and compliance risks. A component thereof is the protection of the reputation of the bank. To
minimize legal risks the bank uses standard legal agreements for financial products as much as possible and,
when necessary, consults external legal expertise.
The scope and nature of compliance within the financial industry have evolved and are no longer limited
to rules-based banking regulations. Given the changes in the compliance and regulatory landscape and
the resulting long-term impact on banks, MBE has standardized various compliance rules, set up policies
and procedures, adopted lean principles and provides training for employees on a regular basis to improve
awareness and knowledge. Furthermore, various mitigating measures were taken to minimize the risks due to
international sanctions.

In March 2020 stock markets experience the biggest losses since the 2008 financial crisis fueled by investor
panic over the COVID-19 outbreak and the feared initiation of an oil price war by Saudi Arabia. MBE has
limited exposure to the energy industry and closely monitors its liquidity status to ensure ample liquidity
buffer is in place to mitigate any possible liquidity stress from the market.
The Management Board and the Risk Management department are aware of the current situation and are
actively monitoring the situation. Where needed appropriate actions are taken, whereby specific focuses of
attention are:
•

Exposure to China and Italy: MBE has performed and impact assessment on the potential credit
deterioration of direct exposures to borrowers based in China or in Italy due to the COVID-19 disruption,
the result is that the potential shortfall is limited. MBE holds no direct exposure to Chinese borrowers,
and exposure to Italy is limited to € 32million. The Expected Loss is very low at € 40k, driven by the
strong credit quality of the borrowers or guarantees received on those contracts.

•

The stock markets (incl. the banking industry and MBE’s parent group) in Japan, Europe and the US have
started the downslide from mid February 2020 fueled by investor panic over the COVID- 19 outbreak.
Moreover Japanese banks’ shares could fall further should the Bank of Japan undertake additional
monetary easing which will hurt banks’ earnings. However till now, there is no internal and external
concern on liquidity stress. MBE and its parent group are in close communication and closely monitoring
the market development and liquidity situation through a wide range of early warning indicators. MBE
also performs stress testing to ensure sufficient liquidity buffer is available to mitigate possible negative
liquidity impact. These exercises all facilitate the discussion and decision on the frequent ad hoc risk
committee meetings whether any contingent liquidity measures need to be taken.

•

Impact on specific industries: MBE is closely monitoring the potential impact of COVID-19 on those
industries flagged as the most vulnerable to a supply-chain disruption in China, by splitting its total
portfolio into three industry groups depending on the expected economic shortfall (high, medium or
low). Subsequently, a more granular analysis is run by assessing investment and non-investment grade
borrowers credit quality, the result of this analysis is that 13.9% of the total portfolio is subject to
potential credit concerning development, MBE is thoroughly monitoring these exposures in an ongoing
basis and these are object of discussion in the Portfolio Management Committee.

•

Expected Credit Loss (COVID Stress-Testing): Based on the assessment of potential impact on most
vulnerable industries on a global basis, MBE runs stress-testing activities to determine the Expected
Credit Loss (ECL) arising from the potential credit deterioration of these exposures, MBE’s borrowers
rating are stressed by 1 or 2 notches downgrade depending on the expected economic repercussions
per industry. The severity of the contemplated scenarios offer a range of additional ECL , but even in
the worst case scenario, MBE holds sufficient own funds and net profit generation to face additional
credit impairments.

5.9.14 Appropriation of result
Statutory rules concerning appropriation of the result
In accordance with article 17 of the Articles of Association the profit for the year will be at the disposal of the
shareholder by the General Meeting of Shareholders. Profit can only be distributed to the shareholder for as far
as the total shareholder’s equity exceeds the issued and paid-up share capital and non-distributable reserves.
Appropriation of result for the financial year 2018
The appropriation of the net result of 2018 is in accordance with the shareholder’s decision of 19 March 2019
included in the other reserves.
Proposed appropriation of result for the financial year 2019
The net profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to € 24,015,000 and is awaiting the discussion
of the General Meeting of Shareholders. The Management Board proposes to add the net profit for the year
to the other reserves. This proposal has not been recorded in the financial statements.
The proposal of the profit distribution is as follows:
(in €’000)
Available profit

2019

2018

24,015

21,380

-

-

24,015

21,380

Less: dividend
Transfer to other reserves

Amsterdam, 17 March 2020
Supervisory Board of Directors:		

5.9.15 Subsequent events: coronavirus outbreak
The Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak in China which started in December 2019 is roiling the global markets.
Supply chains have been disrupted and slew of warnings have been issued by companies across major
sectors on potential impact on business. Central banks worldwide have stepped up actions to deal with
the epidemic. Even though the spread of COVID-19 appears to be have slowed down in China recently,
the growth rate outside China remains erratic with recent spikes in almost all continents. The COVID-19 is
expected to reduce the baseline world GDP growth rate in 2020 by 0.3%.

Hiroshi Nagamine				Kenji Saito
Peter de Ruijter				
Eiji Katayama
Kevin O’Rourke				Jens Pöhland
Gabriella Kindert

MBE has started the risk impact assessment and set up contingency team at an early stage to ensure
business continuity and contain possible negative impact. MBE has identified its exposures to the industries
that are risk-sensitive to the COVID-19 global disruption and closely monitor its risk profile changes.
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Independent
Auditor's Report
To the shareholder and the supervisory board of
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.

6.1	Report on the audit of the
financial statements 2019
included in the Annual Report
6.1.1 Our opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial
statements 2019 of Mizuho Bank Europe N.V., based
in Amsterdam.
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial position of
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. as at 31 December 2019,
and of its result for 2019 in accordance with Part 9 of
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
The financial statements comprise:
1.

The balance sheet as at 31 December 2019.

2.

The profit and loss account for 2019.

3.

The notes comprising a summary of the
accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

6.1.2 Basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch
law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the "Our responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements" section of our report.
We are independent of Mizuho Bank Europe
N.V. in accordance with the EU Regulation on
specific requirements regarding statutory audit
of public-interest entities, the Wet toezicht
accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms
supervision act), the Verordening inzake de
onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assuranceopdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants, a regulation with respect to
independence) and other relevant independence
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regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the Verordening gedrags- en
beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).
We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

6.1.3 Emphasis of matter – impact COVID-19 virus
The COVID-19 virus has a major impact on individuals’ health and the financial performance of organizations.
The situation changes on a daily basis. At this moment, there is significant uncertainty on the impact of the
virus with regard to the public health as well as on the financial performance of organizations. The annual
report 2019 and the auditor’s report thereon (dated 17 March 2020) represent the status at a certain moment
in time, at which it is not possible to assess the future impact of the COVID-19 virus on the public health
and the (financial) performance of Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. has disclosed the
uncertainty regarding the impact of the COVID-19 virus in the subsequent events disclosure (paragraph
5.9.15) in the annual report 2019. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

6.1.4 Materiality
Based on our professional judgement we determined the materiality for the financial statements as a
whole at € 1,700,000. The materiality is based on 5% of profit before tax. We have also taken into account
misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users of the financial
statements for qualitative reasons.
We agreed with the Supervisory Board that misstatements in excess of € 85,000, which are identified during
the audit, would be reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our view must be reported on
qualitative grounds.

6.1.5 Scope of the group audit
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. is at the head of a group of branches. The financial information of this group is
included in the financial statements of Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.
Our group audit mainly focused on significant branches of Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.
By performing the procedures ourselves, we have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence about the group's financial information to provide an opinion about the financial statements.

6.1.6 Scope of fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations
In accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance
that the financial statements taken as a whole are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud
or error.
Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that some material misstatements
in the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in
accordance with the auditing standards. Also, we are not responsible for preventing and cannot be expected
to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Our audit procedures differ from those performed as part of a specific forensic investigation,
which often has a more in-depth scope.

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional skepticism throughout our audit
in identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements due to fraud or
non-compliance, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

6.1.7 Consideration of fraud
In identifying fraud risks, we assessed fraud risk factors, which we discussed with the Head of Legal &
Compliance, Head of Planning & Risk Management, the Head of Internal Audit, the Board of Managing
Directors and the Supervisory Board. Fraud risk factors are events or conditions that indicate an incentive or
pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Based on the auditing standards, we
considered the following presumed fraud risk relevant to our audit:
•

Presumed fraud risk in relation to management override of controls;

•

Presumed fraud risk of revenue recognition in relation to commission income.

We have not identified and addressed any other fraud risks which could have a material impact on the
financial statements.
As part of audit procedures to respond to fraud risks, we evaluated the internal controls relevant to mitigate
these fraud risks and performed supplementary substantive audit procedures, including detailed testing of
journal entries and supporting documentation in relation to post-closing adjustments. Data analytics, including
testing journal entries based on certain risk-based characteristics, is part of our audit approach to address
fraud risks, which could have a material impact on the financial statements.

6.1.8 Consideration of laws and regulations
We assessed factors related to the risks of non-compliance with law and regulations that could reasonably
be expected to have a material effect on the financial statements taken as a whole. From our general and
industry experience, through discussions with the Board of Managing Directors and by the inspection of
selected documents regarding compliance with law and regulations.
The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably. Firstly,
the company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
corporate tax law, financial reporting regulations and requirements under Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code. We assessed the compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related
financial statements.
Secondly, Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. is subject to many other (sector specific and country specific) laws
and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance with these laws could have a material effect
on amounts and/or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through imposing fines or litigation.
We identified data and privacy legislation and the EU’s fourth and fifth Anti-Money Laundering Directive
(“AMLD4” and “AMLD5” respectively) as those most likely to have such an effect.
As required by auditing standards, we performed audit procedures that address the risk of non-compliance
with these laws and regulations, including inquiries of the Board of Managing Directors and the Supervisory
Board, inspecting (board) minutes and correspondence with the regulators. We also remained alert to
indications of (suspected) non-compliance throughout the audit. Furthermore, we performed corroborative
inquiry with the Head of Legal & Compliance, the Head of Planning & Risk Management and the Head of
Internal Audit. Finally, we obtained written representations that all known instances of (suspected) noncompliance with laws and regulations have been disclosed to us.

In determining the audit procedures, we made use of the Board of Managing Directors’ fraud risk assessment
respectively the risk assessment of non-compliance with laws and regulation (prevention, detection and response)
including ethical standards that contribute to a culture of honesty. In our risk assessments, with regard to the
subjects Transaction Monitoring, AML and KYC, we made use of specialist knowledge of a compliance specialist.

80

Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.

81

Annual Report 2019

6.1.9 Our key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the Supervisory Board.
The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The risk exists that Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. has included loans under the PAS agreement that do not comply
with the standardized PAS framework contracts. Furthermore, the risk exists that fees are recognized on a
gross basis. Given the relative size of the PAS and the associated risks, we have assessed the classification
and disclosure of the pledged asset scheme as a key audit matter.
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.’s disclosures concerning the pledged asset scheme are included in notes 2e, 26
and 35 of the financial statements.
How the key audit matter was addressed in the audit

Cut-off, completeness and accuracy of commission income
During our planning and risk assessment procedures, we reassessed our understanding of the existing
pledged asset scheme-structure. We inspected the master loan-, master guarantee- and pledge agreement
with Mizuho Bank Ltd., London branch.

Description
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. has multiple sources of income. The total revenues for the year 2019 amount
to EUR 181.1 million. This amount mainly consists of interest and similar income (EUR 146.1 million) and
commission income (EUR 29.2 million).
Revenue recognition is considered a key audit matter due to the pervasive impact on the bank’s financial
statements. Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.’s interest income is characterized by a large volume of transactions that
have a low individual value. As a result, the significant risk of material misstatement is pinpointed to the cutoff, completeness and accuracy of the commission income.
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.’s disclosures concerning revenues are included in notes 4a – 4c, 27 and 29 to the
financial statements.

We have tested the design and implementation of the internal controls on the facilities administrated under
the master guarantee- and pledge agreement. In addition, we have tested the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of the internal controls surrounding the administration of individual facilities into the
automated systems.
As part of our substantive audit procedures, we have obtained an external confirmation on the total amount of
facilities administrated under the PAS. We inspected the fee agreements between Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.
and Mizuho Bank Ltd., London branch and determined that these transactions are part of the normal course
of business.
Our observation

How the key audit matter was addressed in the audit
Our audit procedures included obtaining an understanding of the different sources of income as part of our
planning and risk assessment procedures.

The scope and nature of the procedures performed were appropriate and sufficient to address the key audit
matter. Our procedures performed did not result in any reportable matters.
Completeness of loan loss provisioning

We have tested the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of the controls around the input of
the different type of contracts that result in commission income. As part of these control testing procedures,
we tested the relevant key-control controls which are executed in London. Furthermore, we have tested
the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of the application controls related to the automated
calculations of the commission income.
As part of our substantive audit procedures, we have performed a test of details on the arrangement fees
included in the commission income. For a sample of transactions, we traced and agreed the recorded
commission income to underlying source documentation. We recalculated the revenues based upon the
contractual details. For the commission income related to the pledged asset scheme we have performed
substantive analytical procedures. We determined that the revenues were recognized in the correct period.
In addition, we assessed and evaluated the internal accounting policies for compliance with the Dutch
Accounting Standards.
Our observation

Description
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. provides loans to corporate clients with a focus on the European and Japanese
markets. Because of the inherent uncertainty and risk in a number of areas when determining the loan loss
provisioning for the loan portfolio, loan loss provisioning is an important area of judgement and estimates by
the Board of Managing Directors. Therefore, we have classified the completeness of the loan loss provision
as key audit matter.
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.’s disclosures concerning the loan loss provisioning are included in notes 2h, 6 and 7
of the financial statements.
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. has implemented the Expected Credit Loss-model under Dutch GAAP as per 1
January 2020. Therefore, we do not consider the Expected Credit Loss-model as a key audit matter for the
financial statements 2019. The bank has disclosed the impact of the adaption of the Expected Credit Lossmodel in note 2b to the financial statements.

The scope and nature of the procedures performed were appropriate and sufficient to address the key audit
matter. Our procedures performed on the cut-off, completeness and accuracy of commission income did not
result in any reportable matters.

How the key audit matter was addressed in the audit

Classification and disclosure of the pledged asset scheme

We have tested the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of the key controls in the loan
origination process. In addition, we have gained an understanding of the ongoing credit monitoring process
within Mizuho Bank Europe N.V.

Description
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. has a pledged asset scheme (“PAS”), based on a master guarantee- and pledge
agreement with Mizuho Bank Ltd. London branch. The financial instruments under this agreement have been
derecognized by Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. as Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. does not bear a significant part of the
risks and rewards.
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As part of our substantive audit procedures, we have performed a test of details on a sample of selected
loans. For these loans, we have sent out confirmations to the external counterparties and/or performed
substantive audit procedures on the interest receipts or principal repayments to determine the existence and
valuation of the loans. We have tested and challenged key judgements and estimates made by the Board
of Managing Directors, including a review of a sample of loan files to assess the requirement for a loan loss
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provision. We determined that no loan loss provisions are recognized, for which we refer to note 6 and note 7
in the financial statements.

6.4 Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements

Our observation

6.4.1 Responsibilities of management and the supervisory board for the financial statements

The scope and nature of the procedures performed were appropriate and sufficient to address the key audit
matter. Our procedures performed did not result in any reportable matters.

The Board of Managing Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, the Board of Managing
Directors is responsible for such internal control as the Board of Managing Directors determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

6.2 Report on the other information included in the Annual Report
In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report contains other
information that consists of:

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the Board of Managing Directors is responsible for
assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework
mentioned, the Board of Managing Directors should prepare the financial statements using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the Board of Managing Directors either intends to liquidate the company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

•

About Mizuho Bank Europe.

•

Report of the Supervisory Board.

•

Report of the Board of Managing Directors.

The Board of Managing Directors should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt
on the company's ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.

•

Future Oriented Banking.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the company's financial reporting process.

•

Other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

6.4.2 Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:
•

Is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements.

•

Contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit
of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material
misstatements.
By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less than the
scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the report of
the Board of Managing Directors in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and the other
information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and
appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.
Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not
detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the
evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.
We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit,
in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our
audit included e.g.:
•

Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company's internal control.

•

Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Managing Directors.

•

Concluding on the appropriateness of the Board of Managing Directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the

6.3 Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
6.3.1 Engagement
We were engaged by the supervisory board as auditor of Mizuho Bank Europe N.V. as of the audit for the year
2015 and have operated as statutory auditor ever since that financial year.

6.3.2 No prohibited non-audit services
We have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in Article 5(1) of the EU Regulation on
specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities.
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date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease
to continue as a going concern.
•

Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures.

•

Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising and
performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures
to be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group entities or
operations. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the
complete set of financial information or specific items.
We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identified
during our audit. In this respect we also submit an additional report to the Audit & Compliance Committee of
the Supervisory Board in accordance with Article 11 of the EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding
statutory audit of public-interest entities. The information included in this additional report is consistent with
our audit opinion in this auditor's report.
We provide the Supervisory Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the Supervisory Board, we determine the key audit matters: those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements. We describe these matters
in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, not communicating the matter is in the public interest.
Amsterdam, 17 March 2020
Deloitte Accountants B.V.

A. den Hertog
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